

# NCACE Action Research Report

Skills and Capacity for Knowledge Exchange with the Arts and Cultural Sector

**Dr Kayla Rose** 

# NCACE Action Research Report: Skills and Capacity for Knowledge Exchange with the Arts and Cultural Sector

Dr Kayla Rose

A publication by The National Centre for Academic and Cultural Exchange © NCACE 2021

Copyright of each work printed herewith belong to the respective author and is reproduced here with their permission

Objective: Scope out, review and summarise the existing evidence and research on the skills and capacity of the arts and higher education sector related to the development of effective collaboration and knowledge exchange.

Areas that existing research will be found under will include (but not be limited to):

- Knowledge Exchange
- Negotiation
- Collaboration
- Co-design
- Creativity in management / leadership
- Leadership more generally

Output: A concise report with a bibliography attached.

# Contents

Report	1
Introduction	1
Approach & Context	4
Key Interim Findings	5
Conclusion	10
Appendix I: Key Institutions, Initiatives and Sources of Evidence	17
Arts Council England	17
Arts Council Northern Ireland (Arts Council NI)	20
Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC)	22
British Academy	26
British Council	27
CC Skills	28
Clore Leadership Programme	28
Creative Scotland	29
IDOX Group	30
Museums Association	31
National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement (NCCPE)	33
National Council for Voluntary Organisations (NCVO)	36
Office for Students (OfS)	37
PraxisAuril	38
Research England	39
Skills Development Scotland (SDS)	44
The Audience Agency	44
The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE)	46
UK Research and Innovation (UKRI)	48
Appendix II: Doctoral Training Partnerships/University Doctoral Initiatives	50
AHRC Scottish Graduate School for Arts and Humanities	50
Cambridge AHRC DTP	50
Cambridge ESRC DTP	51

CHASE AHRC DTP	53
London Arts & Humanities Partnership (LAHP)	53
Northern Bridge Consortium Doctoral Training Partnership (NBC)	55
South, West and Wales Doctoral Training Partnership (SWWDTP)	56
Knowledge Exchange Skills Scholarship (KESS 2)	56
The White Rose College of the Arts & Humanities (WRoCAH)	57
Key Publications	58
Appendix III: Bibliography	62
Knowledge Exchange in the Arts and Cultural Sector	62
HE Skills Capacity in Knowledge Exchange	68
Creative Skills, Co-Design and Collaboration	80
Creativity in Management and Leadership	81

# Report

#### Introduction

Establishing a robust knowledge exchange practice between universities and the arts and cultural sectors — spanning across museums and heritage, the creative industries to the third sector, government agencies and policymakers — has become an essential aspect of research and innovation activity within UK universities, with importance placed on building the skills and capacity for collaboration. The underlying challenge is to understand exactly how to carry out knowledge exchange in a way that fits with both the disciplinary practices of arts, humanities and creative industries research, and the ways in which the arts and cultural sector, as defined by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS), operates within that space. Responding to this challenge is clearly essential, but how to respond is often hidden in the existing literature: not because it is not recognised as important, but because of the different languages and priorities that exist across the university and arts and cultural sectors. Occasionally, there is also the sense that universities do not always understand and champion the value of research from the arts and cultural sector itself, instead viewing knowledge exchange as a set of metrics that are more transactional with mainly a one-way knowledge transfer rather than a two-way mutually beneficial process of knowledge exchange and creation; however, the literature shows that this is often linked to an evolution of language rather than thought and practice.

While Crossick (2006) has maintained that arts and humanities disciplines have deeply embedded relationships and connections with wider economic and social activities, he also recognises that the lack of traditionally commercial outputs from many arts and humanities disciplines can make engaging in knowledge exchange activities challenging. The knowledge exchange activities that occur between universities and the arts and cultural sector are often based on models of knowledge transfer designed specifically for other sectors, namely for health, science and technology. Knowledge exchange is inherently more difficult to measure than knowledge transfer, which tends to be more commercial and linear in nature. Therefore, those researchers working in universities carrying out knowledge exchange activities in the arts are often working not based on the specific relationship between the arts and humanities disciplines and the arts and cultural sector, but rather through these existing models of knowledge transfer used in other sectors that are not always fit-for-purpose (Crossick, 2006: 2).

As Moreton (2016) rightfully argues, this requires universities to not only rethink and revamp the different types of outputs that research produces while concurrently

considering and reconsidering how and with whom researchers can engage, but also to explore and negotiate how research itself is imagined and valued. In short, while there are clear lessons and best practices to learn from other sectors, there needs to be a deeper understanding between the university and arts and cultural sectors of what specific skills and capacity needs are required to generate mutually beneficial, valuable and sustainable knowledge exchange between these sectors (Moreton, 2016: 113).

According to a new British Academy report published in June 2021, SHAPE disciplines – Social Sciences, Humanities and the Arts for People and the Economy – contribute to and shape public policy that supports change for the good of society. It recognises that knowledge exchange between universities and the arts and cultural sector, in its many and varying forms, is vital and valuable. From research and impact to co-producing best practice and skills development, knowledge exchange is 'deeply embedded and pervasive within SHAPE research and education, across all subjects and the full spectrum of knowledge exchange activities' (British Academy, 2021: 4). These findings are not new and anyone working in developing knowledge exchange activities and collaboration in the arts and cultural sector has known this for years; however, we also know that universities, policymakers and funding bodies are driven by metrics – one need only look at the Research Excellence Framework (REF) to understand how firmly embedded this is into university culture – so the need to respond to recommendations for how to improve performance can be a potential driver for further reflection on skills and capacity development needs.

Published in response to the first ever Knowledge Exchange Framework (KEF) exercise, which was completed in 2021, the British Academy report makes recommendations for the future of KEF in driving excellence in SHAPE knowledge exchange, touching upon best practice in co-production and skills and capacity building in its chosen case studies. However, though KEF has clear metrics in place for universities to define their knowledge exchange activities in areas such as Research Partnerships, Working with Business, Working with the Public & Third Sector and Skills, Enterprise & Entrepreneurship, these are not really defined around driving mutual benefit between the university and non-academic organisations. Even placing both the KEF and Knowledge Exchange (KE) Concordat aside, the literature recognises that knowledge exchange should and must be a given for universities, embedded in every aspect of what they do (Crossick, 2006; Gilmore & Comunian, 2016; Murdock *et al*, 2013; Williams *et al*, 2017).

With both the rise of the idea of the civic university, one that has an international reach but remains firmly embedded in the local community, and the short- and long-term impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic to consider, universities find themselves facing the

challenge of balancing the needs of students, research funders and the local community while adhering to an ever-increasing series of metrics and exercises designed to test their effectiveness and value. As an institution, the university must contribute to social and economic recovery, working to train and retrain the local workforce and engaging in widening participation activities to support all interested learners in progressing to higher education. As researchers within that space, there is an inherent responsibility to not only engage with the communities about and who research is for, but to recognise that the flow of knowledge and expertise is not unidirectional, whether they work in science, business, technology, arts or humanities and everything in between.

As much as we know that knowledge exchange and collaboration to mutual benefit are necessary for engaging the arts and cultural sector, knowing how to do it and do it well is a different story. Arts Council England (2021: 2), for example, has committed to delivering their 2020-2030 strategy, *Let's Create*, with a goal to see England become a 'country in which the creativity of each of us is valued and given the chance to flourish, and where every one of us has access to a remarkable range of high-quality cultural experiences' by 2030. Another example is the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC), which seems to grasp that this gap in understanding and skills development exists. Overall, AHRC strongly advocates the role that arts and humanities research plays in driving 'public benefit' by 'enabling cultural participation, addressing contemporary social challenges and creating economic value' (AHRC, 2019: 5). AHRC-funded research makes a highly visible contribution via its collaboration with flagship UK cultural institutions and training the next generation of researchers is central to their strategy (AHRC, 2019: 22-23).

The AHRC Delivery Plan (2019) recognises the role of 'enablers' of collaborative activity between the university and arts and cultural sector and focuses on both short- and long-term actions to support the skills pipeline, going beyond doctoral training and early-career fellowship provision by creating additional opportunities for doctoral and early-career researchers to engage beyond higher education (HE) with external partners. While this is a step in the right direction, there is not an explicitly defined understanding of exactly what skills and capacity needs exist across the two sectors – not all knowledge exchange actors will be academics with higher degrees so not all those working within and across the university and arts space will have access to the AHRC's training, or indeed that of the other UK-based research councils (e.g. Economic and Social Research Council, Natural Environmental Research Council and Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council), which also have relevant artistic and cultural activities ongoing.

While the requirement for, and impact of, good knowledge exchange, enterprise and research has been thoroughly explored in the existing research, with a wide body of publications readily available (see the full bibliography contained within Appendix III of this report), the skills and capacity aspect of knowledge exchange is less visible in the literature. This is despite the fact that public engagement and knowledge exchange are considered core components of cultural, social and economic impact, which is clearly reflected in the KE projects and initiatives currently ongoing across UK funding bodies and arts and cultural institutions (see Appendix I for a sample of KE activity as it relates to supporting skills and capacity development).

## Approach & Context

This research into skills and capacity for knowledge exchange between and within universities and the arts and cultural sector supports the National Centre for Academic and Cultural Exchange (NCACE) in its mission to facilitate and support further capacity and potential for knowledge exchange, which has grown out of The Culture Capital Exchange's (TCCE) significant track record of supporting collaborations, partnerships, network and engagements between HE and the arts and cultural sectors.

We know from practice that weight around co-design and collaborative activity is inherent in the arts sector, as well as the need for mutually beneficial reciprocal relationships; however, despite knowing that there is a need to grow skills and capacity, particularly in this area, there appears to be less literature and resources available in terms of *how* exactly to do it between the university and arts and cultural sector. As discussed above, the term 'knowledge exchange' itself creates a challenge for understanding how universities and the arts and cultural sector collaborate in this area.

My approach to this piece of work has been two-fold, encompassing both a systematic online literature search using a defined set of keywords in order to find the most relevant academic literature and a rapid scoping study of key initiatives and projects in knowledge exchange across a range of known organisations in the UK, such as AHRC, Arts Council England, Arts Council NI, Arts Council Wales, Creative Scotland, Research England, Museums Association, British Council, Clore Leadership Programme and TCCE, to name but a few, as well as a number of UKRI funded doctoral training partnerships – a full sample of these is available in Appendices I and II of this report.

### **Key Interim Findings**

What we know for certain is that arts and cultural research and practice play a vital role in building relationships among a wide range of societal stakeholders, including academics, citizens, communities, civic organisations, industries, museums and memory sites, creative practitioners and policymakers, though there is comparably less published work around the specific skills and capacity within and across organisations needed to get there. What has emerged, however, is that there is fairly strong evidence of this within the health, science and social science sectors and a real sense that more hidden evidence exists within the voluntary and the arts sector. For example, there is a long history of collaboration between the National Health Service (NHS) and the university sector, particularly the NHS Knowledge Exchange Benchmarking Network and the Chief Scientific Officer's Knowledge Transfer Partnership Programme, as well as the collaborative strategies carried out between individual universities and the NHS.

The four key interim findings of this research are summarised briefly below. What remains to be explored is whether or not there exists further evidence around different kinds of skills that the arts and cultural sector brings to the university, and vice versa, or if it is more worthwhile to work to an understanding that best practice is best practice regardless of which sector is being engaged with.

1. Existing evidence around skills and capacity building in knowledge exchange across sectors is hidden in the literature, not missing – challenge around conducting a literature search using the term 'knowledge exchange'

The term 'knowledge exchange' itself creates a challenge for understanding how universities and the arts and cultural sector collaborate in this area. While the term is used regularly by universities collaborating with the arts and cultural sector, it does not seem to be as frequently used in the sector itself, making it difficult to identify the extent to which there exists an established body of evidence on the skills and capacity of the arts and higher education sector related to the development of effective collaboration and knowledge exchange.

Some of the terms used in the arts and cultural sector that link to 'knowledge exchange' are:

- Co-Creation/Co-Design
- Collaboration/Collaborative Design
- Creative Exchange
- Arts/Cultural Skills/Leadership

- Partnership
- Place-shaping
- Research Connections

However, despite the above mentioned challenges with the arts and cultural sector overall, clear structures around skills and capacity for knowledge exchange are perhaps most easily found within the museums and heritage sector and the creative economy more widely.

In the museums and heritage sector, the Museums Association conducts a full set of initiatives centred around research and evaluation, partnerships and workforce (see Appendix I). They have also contributed significant research on the attitudes, behaviours and skills of the UK museums workforce, highlighting the need for funding to support workers to engage in subject-specific knowledge exchange and a focus on strategic leadership development within and across organisations (BOP Consulting with the Museum Consultancy, 2016b: 5). Overall, the skills gaps that were identified and solutions recommended reflect a drive towards improved museum resilience (ibid: 8).

Dawson & Gilmore (2009) have also analysed the what, how and why behind key practices and issues in knowledge exchange and skills development across the museum sector, delving into a set of case studies on the shared interests and priorities between universities and the sector. Their consultation took a practical approach, exploring the best regional examples of HE engagement and collaboration with the cultural sector and wider community via case study models to inform future developments. As part of this, the project sought to identify the key features of successful partnerships, as well as how regional HEIs could develop research relationships with regional museums, galleries and visual arts organisations to strengthen knowledge exchange and scholarship capability within the sector.

The key issues found by Dawson & Gilmore reflect those identified in other literature explored in this report (Comunian & Gilmore, 2014; Comunian, Smith & Taylor, 2014; Crossick, 2006; Hughes *et al*, 2011; Mooney, 2012; Moreton, 2016), including the question of exactly what constitutes collaboration in universities versus the arts and cultural sector. For example, partnerships, programmes, projects and collaborations each have different meanings between the two sectors, highlighting further need for better shared language and understandings as a first step toward effective skills and capacity building for working together in the knowledge exchange arena (Dawson & Gilmore, 2009: 9-10).

Within the creative economy as a whole, Gilmore & Comunian (2016) have explored the relationships between universities and the creative industries sector in detail, with a special focus on research and knowledge exchange. In exploring the ways in which universities have engaged with the creative industries sector's agenda, the authors highlight the difficulties faced by universities in defining the roles they do and can play in collaboration across the sector. The difficulties highlighted by Crossick (2006) and Moreton (2016) are prevalent, namely the application of knowledge transfer processes and methodologies used in other sectors that are not necessarily fit-for-purpose in the creative industries. Gilmore & Comunian (2016: 3) highlight the need for cocommissioning and knowledge sharing that is sector-led rather than driven by university metrics, focusing on where they intersect in terms of 'creative human capital' and 'knowledge development'.

Another significant piece of work highlighting these issues across the creative economy is the AHRC-funded *The Hidden Story: Understanding Knowledge Exchange*Partnerships with the Creative Economy (2017), which makes recommendations in line with the distinct way that universities co-create and exchange knowledge with the creative industries for a range of stakeholders, including government and policy makers, local and devolved authorities, university leaders and research managers within HEIs.

2. Examples of best practice in skills and capacity building for knowledge exchange can be found within the health, science, social science and voluntary sectors, but are more difficult to locate within the arts and cultural sector

As Crossick (2006) and Moreton (2016) have noted, many of the knowledge exchange activities that occur in the arts and cultural sectors are often based on models designed specifically for other sectors, namely for health, science and technology (Mitchell *et al*, 2009 and Murdock, Razia & Wilding, 2013). While best practice in skills and capacity of knowledge exchange is more hidden within the arts and cultural sector as a result of the challenges discussed above, there have been clear, well-established practices in place in other sectors for over a decade.

UKRI's Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC), in particular, has a fantastic toolkit for researchers doing knowledge exchange (<u>Tips for doing knowledge exchange (https://esrc.ukri.org/research/impact-toolkit/tips-for-doing-knowledge-exchange/)</u>). The toolkit contains links to information on established tools, such as Theory of Change and Stakeholder Mapping, and advice and training on building contacts, developing relationships and evaluating KE. While it is very much a general 'how to' guide, it highlights the skills and capacity for KE that successful researchers develop, while providing an introductory practical guide.

Furthermore, there is an outpouring of work on knowledge exchange within the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, with recommendations for what comes after. These are spread across sectors, with a key focus on resilience, wellbeing and recovery. Boaz *et al* (2021) discusses evidence gaps in research and knowledge exchange across economic growth, recovery, public services and policy and practice, which, while not directly linked to the arts and cultural sector, can provide a framework around KE opportunities in line with post-Covid government priorities in the UK (particularly around the NCACE priorities of place and skills development).

Additionally, there is a growing body of literature on interdisciplinary collaboration in knowledge exchange (Haythornwaite, 2006). Of particular interest is a deep dive into knowledge exchange and collaboration across the sciences and creative practice (Groth *et al* 2020), the links between universities and multiple stakeholders across disciplines and sectors, particularly the sciences (Fazey *et al* 2011 and Mitchell *et al* 2009) and various investigations of knowledge exchange in the social sciences (Bullock & Hughes, 2016 and Lightowler & Knight, 2013).

# 3. <u>Co-design and collaboration are inherent to the arts and cultural sector – focus is on</u> reciprocal, sustainable relationships and mutual benefit

Collaboration and the co-design of programmes and knowledge are increasingly being recognised as best practices for university and arts and cultural sector engagement; however, they are only ever partially achieved. As discussed earlier in this report, rather than being primarily a commercial exchange, partnership within the context of the arts and cultural sector is fundamentally relational, and the challenge of getting universities and the arts and cultural sector on the same page in terms of defining collaboration is a work in progress (Comunian, Smith & Taylor, 2014; Wilson & Mitchell, 2016). The literature agrees that, much like deep friendships, partnerships across universities and the arts and cultural (and indeed, voluntary) sectors need defining and development via a process of co-creation (Bagwell *et al*, 2014; Comunian & Gilmore, 2014; Dawson & Gilmore, 2009). It is generally agreed that long-term, sustainable and mutually beneficial partnerships need a deep commitment from both sides, but what that commitment entails from the viewpoints of the university and the arts and cultural sector is yet to be defined (Ray, 2016).

Leighton & Mitchell's (2018) work on creating collaborative ecologies via the Exchange provides a solid foundation upon which to build a corpus of best practices around facilitating collaborative research and knowledge exchange between universities and the arts and cultural sector, particularly around development opportunities for Early Career

8

Researchers (ECRs) and how to establish long-term partnerships. There is a strong focus on getting universities and the arts and cultural sector on the same page in terms of understanding what each does and how they do it, in order to solve the lingering issue of limited networking and peer learning opportunities for knowledge exchange professionals in disciplines where resources are harder to access and locate (Leighton & Mitchell, 2018: 14).

Facer & Enright's (2016) work on the AHRC Connected Communities project similarly explores the purposes and expertise required for practical collaboration between the university and community partners, bringing their different reasons and perspectives on partnership to the forefront. What is made clear from the outset is that co-creation and co-design are essential for combining the practical, personal and symbolic reasons for collaboration, which are entirely dependent on agreeing and developing a highly diverse set of roles across both teams (Facer & Enright, 2016: 2-3). However, they recognise that a need for further research and scholarship remains to create collaborations and partnerships that are accountable to a wider public good and the sustainability of these university-community relationships and activities past the life of the project's funding (ibid: 7).

Tiller (2017) delves into the complexities and challenges of sharing power across and within institutions and sectors, drawing from the Creative People and Places project, which worked with arts and cultural sector directors, community managers and other team members. Focusing on ideas of power, reciprocity, cultural capital, participation, values, ethics, collaboration and politics, Tiller's think-piece is particularly valuable in its exploration of power and shared decision-making, particularly around reciprocity, the processes of collaboration and shared decision-making as a tool for political and social change (Tiller, 2017: 17). With reciprocity defined as the 'practice of exchanging things with others for mutual benefit', Tiller delves into the how behind making it work in practice (ibid: 25-28).

4. <u>Literature recognises that there is a gap in skills and capacity-building (the 'missing middle')</u>, with a recommendation that there needs to be a strategic way of building greater resilience into projects and partnerships

As evidenced in the discussions above, while universities who are successful in knowledge exchange have a combination of partnerships together with a diversity of projects that foster individual and collaborative creative action, these tend to have 'relatively low degrees of strategic connectivity' and are 'reliant on PIs as the linking node, making such networks vulnerable to changes in personnel' (Williams *et al*, 2017: 7). What this highlights on the HE side of things is a specific gap in skills and capacity-

building around the need for a strategic way of 'build[ing] greater resilience into the projects and partnerships' (ibid: 7). Williams *et al* (2017) recommend an approach that focuses on investing in the development of more creative leaders both within and outside the university space across a range of career levels and supporting institutions in learning from existing best practice, particularly around successful behaviours and networks (ibid: 7-8).

The AHRC and Creative England similarly recognise that innovation across the creative industries as a whole is driven by strategic partnerships between different types of organisations at all levels. Channer, Owens & Lee (2013) have analysed how interactions between these organisations, including funders, facilitators, research bodies, cultural organisations, creative enterprises and universities, may be enabled. One of the key findings they highlighted was the 'missing middle', which included gaps in provision between informal engagement and larger programmes, as well as in strategic focus and leadership. Though they identified major gaps around articulating value, particularly matching up with collaborators' very distinct goals and conflicting styles of innovation, examples of good practice across the sector are centred on informal, individual and network-led collaborations that are appropriate for a business' stage of development (Channer, Owens & Lee, 2013: 6). The arts and cultural sector, like the creative industries as a whole, is highly collaborative, highly networked and cross disciplinary.

The report's recommendations are in line with others across the arts and cultural sector and the creative industries more widely, and are deeply reflected in NCACE's mission and objectives, including a focus on strategic leadership, developing networks, providing programmes that are accessible to smaller businesses and that promote engagement between HE and industry and strengthening the evidence base.

Two key resources that respond to the above mentioned challenges are the TCCE and Creativeworks toolkit for developing research collaborations, which is particularly useful in terms of enhancing networking opportunities and possibilities for cross-sectoral working and knowledge co-creation, and the Humanities in the European Research Area (HERA) knowledge exchange toolkit, which is geared for all arts and humanities subjects and touches upon best practice in public engagement, knowledge exchange and impact, with a view from outside the university space.

#### Conclusion

The findings discussed in this report represent only a small sample of research, programmes, projects and institutions focused on skills and capacity building for knowledge exchange; however, what is clear is that further opportunities exist for

NCACE to build substantially on existing literature and examples of best practice. While knowledge exchange skills developed for collaboration with other sectors may not necessarily be fit-for-purpose for the arts and cultural sector, it is worth exploring how these may potentially be adapted to suit the specific needs of the sector. The other side of this is the recognition that not all of these will work within the specific context of the arts and cultural sector, so it is absolutely essential that universities and arts and cultural sector partners participate in co-designing their approach to working together, sharing their expectations and approaches with an eye towards establishing a truly mutually beneficial collaboration.

In terms of moving this work forward, next steps could include a comparative analysis between this piece of work and the wider project's literature review in order to identify what remaining gaps and opportunities for further development exist. An exercise such as this could be particularly useful in terms of further exploring alternate terms and approaches linked to an evolution of language rather than of thought and practice.

Another recommendation is that NCACE convene a series of focus groups, wherein the examples of best practice in skills and capacity building for knowledge exchange between universities and all other sectors are pulled out for consultation with both university and arts and cultural sector partners and institutions of various sizes. Many smaller arts and cultural institutions are doing interesting work in this area that is likely being missed in the existing literature, therefore it is worth ensuring any consultation goes beyond those major players noted in Appendix I of this report and encompasses a wider spread of institutions across both sectors.

#### Works Cited

ACE (2021) Setting the Context: Let's Create Delivery Plan 2021-2024. London: Arts Council England. Available from:

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/file/16894/download?token=BEYHcGhB.

AHRC (2019) *AHRC Delivery Plan 2019*. Swindon: Arts and Humanities Research Council. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/strategy/ahrc-delivery-plan-2019/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/strategy/ahrc-delivery-plan-2019/</a>.

Bagwell, S., Bull, D., Joy, I. and Svistak, M. (2014) *Opportunities for Alignment: Arts and Cultural Organisations and Public Sector Commissioning*. London: Arts Council England (ACE). Available from:

 $\underline{http://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultura}\\ \underline{l-commissioning/full-report-opp-for-alignment-arts-cultural-orgs-public-sector.pdf}.$ 

Boaz, A., Oliver, K., Cuccato, G. and Dashwood, C. (2021) Rebuilding a Resilient Britain: Data and Evaluation Areas of Research Interest across Government. London: Government Office for Science/ARI. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/964763/Evidence\_gaps\_and\_next\_steps\_Rebuilding\_a\_Resilient\_Britain.pdf.

BOP Consulting with the Museum Consultancy (2016a) Character Matters: Attitudes, Behaviours and Skills in the UK Museum Workforce. Full Report commissioned by Arts Council England, Museums Galleries Scotland, Museums Association and Association of Independent Museums. Available from:

https://www.museumsgalleriesscotland.org.uk/media/1242/character-matters-full-report.pdf.

BOP Consulting with the Museum Consultancy (2016b) *Character Matters: Attitudes, Behaviours and Skills in the UK Museum Workforce*. Summary Report commissioned by Arts Council England, Museums Galleries Scotland, Museums Association and Association of Independent Museums. Available from:

<a href="https://www.museumsgalleriesscotland.org.uk/media/1243/character-matters-executive-summary.pdf">https://www.museumsgalleriesscotland.org.uk/media/1243/character-matters-executive-summary.pdf</a>.

British Academy (2021) *Knowledge Exchange in the SHAPE Subjects*. London: British Academy. Available from:

https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/documents/3359/Knowledge-Exchange-in-the-SHAPE-subjects.pdf.

Bullock, A. and Hughes, R. (2016) *Knowledge Exchange and the Social Sciences: A Report to ESRC from the Centre for Business Research*. Cambridge: Centre for Business Research, University of Cambridge. Available from:

https://esrc.ukri.org/files/collaboration/knowledge-exchange-and-the-social-sciences/

Channer, J., Owens, P. and Lee, C. (2013) Connecting and Growing Businesses through Engagement with Higher Education Institutions. Swindon: AHRC/Creative England. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connecting-and-growing-creative-businesses-through-engagement-with-higher-education-institutions-final-report-february-2013/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connecting-and-growing-creative-businesses-through-engagement-with-higher-education-institutions-final-report-february-2013/</a>.

Comunian, R. and Gilmore, A. (2014) 'From knowledge sharing to co-creation: Paths and spaces for engagement between higher education and the creative and cultural

industries'. In Schramme, A., Kooyman, R. and Hagoort, G. (eds), *Beyond Frames:* Dynamics between the Creative Industries, Knowledge Institutions and the Urban Context, 174-185. Delft: Eburon Academic Press.

Comunian R., Smith, D. and Taylor, C. (2014) 'The Role of Universities in the Regional Creative Economies of the UK: Hidden Protagonists and the Challenge of Knowledge Transfer'. *European Planning Studies*, 22 (12): 2456-2476.

Crossick, G. (2006) Knowledge transfer without widgets: the challenge of the creative economy. Goldsmiths: Royal Society of Arts in Leeds. Available from: <a href="https://theplayethic.typepad.com/files/crossick\_knowledge-transfer-without-widgets.pdf">https://theplayethic.typepad.com/files/crossick\_knowledge-transfer-without-widgets.pdf</a>.

Dawson, J. and Gilmore, A. (2009) Shared Interest: Developing Collaboration, Partnerships and Research Relationships between Higher Education, Museums, Galleries and Visual Arts Organisations in the North West. A Joint Consultancy Research Project.

Manchester: Renaissance North West Arts Council England North West and the North West Universities Association. Available from: <a href="http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/shared\_interest\_report\_2009.pdf">http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/shared\_interest\_report\_2009.pdf</a>.

Facer, K. and Enright, B. (2016) Creating Living Knowledge: The Connected Communities Programme, Community-University Relationships and the Participatory Turn in the Production of Knowledge. Bristol: University of Bristol and AHRC Connected Communities Programme. Available from: <a href="https://connected-communities.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Creating-Living-Knowledge.Final\_pdf">https://connected-communities.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Creating-Living-Knowledge.Final\_pdf</a>.

Fazey, I., Bunse, L., Msika, J., Pinke, M., Preedy, K., Evely, A.C., Lambert, E., Hastings, E., Morris, S. and Reed, M.S. (2014) 'Evaluating knowledge exchange in interdisciplinary and multi-stakeholder research'. *Global Environmental Change*, 25: 204-220.

Follett, G., Marra, M., Valentine, G., Jack, L., McNicoll, B., Day, A., Morenikeji, J., Maxwell, D., Mackenzie, J., and Prior, S. (2016) *Design in Action: A New Economy of Knowledge Exchange*. Dundee: Design in Action, funded by AHRC. Available from: http://radar.gsa.ac.uk/6713/1/DiA-Final-Report.pdf.

Gardner, H., Leeding, J., Stanley, E., Ball, S., Leach, B., Bausfield, J., Smith, P., and Marjanovic, S. (2021) *Arts-based engagement with research: a guide for community groups, practitioners and researchers*. Cambridge: THIS Institute, University of Cambridge. Available from: <a href="https://mk0thisinstitut0r1om.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/THIS-Institute-Arts-based-engagement-with-research.pdf">https://mk0thisinstitut0r1om.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/THIS-Institute-Arts-based-engagement-with-research.pdf</a>.

Gilmore, A. and Comunian, R. (2016) 'Beyond the campus: higher education, cultural policy and the creative economy'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 1-9.

Groth, C., Pevere, M., Niinimäki, K. and Kääriäinen, P. (2020) 'Conditions for experiential knowledge exchange in collaborative research across the sciences and creative practice'. *CoDesign: International Journal of CoCreation in Design and the Arts*, 16 (4): 328-344.

Haythornthwaite, C. (2006) 'Learning and knowledge networks in interdisciplinary collaborations'. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (https://asistdl.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/15322890)*, 57 (8): 1079-1092.

HERA (n.d.) Knowledge Exchange: A Toolkit for HERA Projects (online). Humanities in the European Research Area. Available from: https://heranet.info/assets/uploads/2019/09/Toolkits\_13Dec2019.html#knowledge-exchange

Hess, M., Colson, A., and Hindmarch, J. (2018) 'Capacity Building and Knowledge Exchange of Digital Technologies in Cultural Heritage Institutions'. *Museum International*, 70 (1-2) (Special Issue: Museums in a Digital World): 48-61.

Hughes, A., Kitson, M. Probert, J., Bullock, A. and Milner, I. (2011) *Hidden Connections: Knowledge Exchange between the Arts and Humanities and the Private, Public and Third Sectors*. Swindon: AHRC/Cambridge: University of Cambridge, Centre for Business Research. Available from: <a href="https://www.cbr.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user\_upload/centre-for-business-research/downloads/special-reports/specialreport-hiddenconnections.pdf">https://www.cbr.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user\_upload/centre-for-business-research/downloads/special-reports/specialreport-hiddenconnections.pdf</a>.

Leighton, S. and Mitchell, P. (2018) *The Exchange: Revealing Collaborative Values*. London: The Cultural Capital Exchange. Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Revealing-Collaborative-Values.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Revealing-Collaborative-Values.pdf</a>.

Lightowler, C. and Knight, C. (2013) 'Sustaining knowledge exchange and research impact in the social sciences and humanities: investing in knowledge broker roles in UK universities'. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9 (3): 317-334.

Mitchell, P., Pirkis, J., Hall, J. and Haas, M. (2009) 'Partnerships for knowledge exchange in health services research, policy and practice'. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 14 (2): 104-111.

Mooney Smith, L. (2012) *Knowledge Transfer in Higher Education: Collaboration in the Arts and Humanities*. Houndmills, Basingstoke and New York: Palgrave McMillan.

Moreton, S. (2016) 'Rethinking 'knowledge exchange': new approaches to collaborative work in the arts and humanities'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 100-115.

Murdock, A., Razia, S. and Wilding, K. (2013) 'Knowledge exchange between academia and the third sector'. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9 (3): 419-430.

Ray, D. (2016) 'Campus-Community Partnership: A Stubborn Commitment to Reciprocal Relationships'. *Diversity & Democracy*, 19 (2) (online). Available from: <a href="https://www.aacu.org/diversitydemocracy/2016/spring/ray">https://www.aacu.org/diversitydemocracy/2016/spring/ray</a>.

TBR (2014) Scoping the Leadership Development Needs of the Cultural Sector in England. London: TBR, Clore Leadership Programme, and ACE. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf">https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf</a>.

Tiller, C. (2017) *Power Up*. London: ACE and Creative People and Places. Available from: <a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C</a> <a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Pow

Williams, A., Dovey, J., Cronin, B., Garside, P., Flintham, M., Smith, M., Barrett, D., Brooks, R., Boddington, A., and Taylor, F. (2017) *The Hidden Story: Understanding Knowledge Exchange Partnerships in the Creative Economy*. London: Kingston University in partnership with University Alliance, UWE Bristol, and Greenwich, Coventry and Sheffield Hallam Universities (funded by AHRC). Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/THE-HIDDEN\_STORY-REPORT\_final\_web.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/THE-HIDDEN\_STORY-REPORT\_final\_web.pdf</a>.

Wilson, E. and Lasebikan, R. (2017) Developing Effective Research Collaborations: A Mini-Guide by Creativeworks and TCCE. London: Creativeworks and The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE). Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-</a>

# <u>content/uploads/2017/07/Developing-Effective-Research-Collaborations\_LR\_spreads.pdf.</u>

Wilson, E. and Mitchell, P., eds. (2016) *Then:Now. Reflections on a Decade of Collaboration between Academia and the Creative and Cultural Sectors in London*.

London: The Culture Capital Exchange. Available from:

<a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Then-Now-Reflections-on-a-decade-of-collaboration-between-academia.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Then-Now-Reflections-on-a-decade-of-collaboration-between-academia.pdf</a>.

# Appendix I: Key Institutions, Initiatives and Sources of Evidence

This section summarises some of the key institutions, initiatives, sources of evidence and research on the skills and capacity of the arts and culture and higher education sectors related to the development of effective collaboration and knowledge exchange (KE). It is UK-focused and therefore does not engage with initiatives and organisations based outside the UK, though the author would like to point out that there is a substantial body of research and evidence related to this topic within other contexts, including Europe, Australia and the USA.

This report is a scoping study and is in no way conclusive, as the search was time-limited. For each chosen institution/organisation, I have highlighted a few important initiatives/funded projects and, where applicable, included relevant information from the organisations' respective websites. A sample of the key publications linked to these initiatives has been included in the full bibliography at the end of this report.

As discussed in the executive summary, there is a challenge in separating initiatives directly related to the arts and culture sector from the wider creative industries and creative economy. A number of the projects listed below are linked to the creative industries sector more widely, but have been included as an example of the kinds of schemes related to wider skills development and capacity building for collaboration and knowledge exchange.

# Arts Council England

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk

Arts Council England (ACE) is the UK's national development agency for creativity and culture. Their overall aim is to grow the skills, knowledge and networks needed to establish the conditions within which creativity and culture flourish. In order to do this, they conduct research, promote partnership and undertake other activities to help the creative and cultural sector develop.

ACE currently has seven main areas of focus:

- Children and Young People
- Diversity
- Leadership and Governance
- Resilience and Sustainability
- Developing a Digital Culture

- Working with Local Authorities
- Creative Media

ACE's current 2020-2030 Strategy is available here: https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Strategy%202020\_2030%20Arts%20Council%20England.pdf.

ACE's 2021-2024 Delivery plan is available here: <a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/lets-create/our-delivery-plan-2021-2024">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/lets-create/our-delivery-plan-2021-2024</a>.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects:

Centre for Cultural Value
(https://www.culturalvalue.org.uk/)

The Centre for Cultural Value is a national research centre based at the University of Leeds. Their core partners are the Audience Agency, the University of Liverpool, the University of Sheffield, the University of York and Queen Margaret University, Edinburgh. They are funded by the UKRI Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC), ACE and Paul Hamlyn Foundation over five years.

Creative People and Places National Peer Learning and Communications Programme (<a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk</a>)

Developed by ACE with an initial investment of £37m from the National Lottery, the first phase of the programme ran between 2013 and 2016. ACE supported a second phase of the programme, which ran from 2016, and invested a further £17m in the existing projects to deliver new activity for a further three years, as well as investing in six new programmes. In 2021, ACE announced that Creative People and Places had become part of the National Portfolio for the period 2022-2025

(https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/creative-people-and-places-national-portfolio-programme-2022-2025#section-1). There are currently thirty Creative People and Places projects working in thirty-three places across the country.

Creative People and Places (CPP) was developed as an action research programme committed to experimenting with new approaches to inspire and excite people about the arts, particularly in areas across England where communities are less involved in arts and cultural activities than in other areas of the country. Partner organisations across projects include NPOs, local authorities, community organisations and universities, with

universities such as Leeds Beckett, Sunderland, Kent, Bedfordshire, Staffordshire and Hull. to name but a few.

Places are supported by the CPP National Peer Learning and Communications
Programme, also funded by ACE. This programme brings together the CPP Places in a
network of their peers and develops and facilitates learning by openly sharing successes
and challenges, supporting each other to solve problems and working collaboratively on
projects.

#### Key CPP tools:

- Shared Decision-Making Toolkit (<a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/our-learning/shared-decision-making-toolkit">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/our-learning/shared-decision-making-toolkit</a>)
  - This practical resource shares examples, tips and tools drawn from
     Creative People and Places, showing how projects have involved local
     people in project-level decision-making.
- Power Up Think Piece
   (https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_Chrissie\_Tiller.pdf)
  - Unpicks some of the big questions that underpin many collaborative practices: power, reciprocity, cultural capital, participation, values, ethics, collaboration, and politics. Throughout are contextual reminders and cautionary notes to think about when aiming for truly participatory relationships in the arts.

Culture Forum North
(https://www.cultureforumnorth.co.uk/)

Culture Forum North is an open network of partnerships between Higher Education and the cultural sector across the North of England. Innovative programmes are developed and shared through this platform, achieving impact beyond individual partnerships and making a meaningful difference to local communities and wider society both regionally and nationally.

Developing Sector Leaders (<u>https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/funding/developing-sector-leaders</u>#section-1)

This programme aimed to develop leadership and governance in art and culture.

Transforming Leadership Fund (<a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/funding-finder/transforming-leadership">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/funding-finder/transforming-leadership</a>)

Funded by the National Lottery, the purpose of the Transforming Leadership Fund was to support arts and cultural leaders from diverse backgrounds in becoming appropriately skilled, which in turn supported the continued growth and long-term sustainability of the sector. Transforming Leadership was launched to address specific issues around diversity across leadership, opportunities for emerging and early career leaders and the development of executive skills at senior levels.

It aimed to foster a strong national network of individuals who work collaboratively for more resilient cultural organisations and deeper local engagement. The delivery of this fund benefitted leaders of arts and cultural organisations including: National Portfolio Organisations (NPOs), museums, libraries and diverse leaders of arts and cultural organisations which are not currently in the national portfolio.

### Arts Council Northern Ireland (Arts Council NI)

http://artscouncil-ni.org

Arts Council Northern Ireland is the development and funding agency for the arts in Northern Ireland. Like ACE, Arts Council NI distributes public money and National Lottery funds to develop and deliver a wide variety of arts projects, events and initiatives across Northern Ireland. They believe that placing 'Art at the Heart' is essential because art makes a difference and has the ability to reach across boundaries by inspiring, teaching and bringing people together.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects:

5-Year Strategic Framework for Developing the Arts 2019-2024 (<a href="http://www.artscouncil-ni.org/images/uploads/publications-documents/ACNI-Draft-5-year-Strategic-Framework-for-Developing-the-Arts-2019-2024.pdf">http://www.artscouncil-ni.org/images/uploads/publications-documents/ACNI-Draft-5-year-Strategic-Framework-for-Developing-the-Arts-2019-2024.pdf</a>)

Arts Council NI developed its Strategic Framework for the Arts 2019-2024 in consultation with the arts sector and key stakeholders, as well as partners in local and central government, and the wider public sector. No longer focused on defining the sector in terms of single artform priorities, the new strategy focuses on the idea of a wider Creative Ecology.

Arts Council NI supports artists and arts organisations, but considers them within the context of a wider Creative Ecology with overlapping connections in the creative industries, digital production, screen, cultural tourism, creative learning and applied practice in social settings.

Building Peace through the Arts: Re-Imaging Communities (<u>http://artscouncil-ni.org/the-arts/visual-arts1/re-imaging-communities</u>)

The Building Peace programme has supported fifty-three community-based projects to undertake creative engagement and consultation, resulting in the development and installation of thirty-two pieces of site-specific public art across Northern Ireland and in the border counties of the Republic of Ireland

Arts Council of Wales (https://arts.wales/) (https://arts.wales/)

Arts Council of Wales is the official body that funds and develops the arts in Wales. The funding that they distribute comes from both the  $\underline{\text{Welsh Government}}$ 

(https://gov.wales/) and The National Lottery

(https://www.lotterygoodcauses.org.uk/awards). Most of their funding goes to artists and arts organisations carrying out work across Wales.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects:

Sharing Together Grant (<u>https://arts.wales/funding/get-started/individuals/sharing-together</u>)

Arts Council Wales funds initiatives and projects that encourage the creation of new networks and strengthen existing networking opportunities. They are particularly interested in initiatives that focus on promoting and strengthening diversity and inclusion throughout the arts sector and on widening engagement with diverse communities.

Arts Council Wales sees networks as being important to facilitate the following:

- Sharing skills, knowledge and expertise;
- Providing support; .
- Encouraging collaborative working;
- Sharing resources;
- Debating issues and discussing ideas; and
- Supporting new and existing networks

Leadership Diversity Programme for the National Arts Companies of Wales (<a href="https://arts.wales/news-jobs-opportunities/leadership-diversity-programme-for-national-arts-companies-wales-research">https://arts.wales/news-jobs-opportunities/leadership-diversity-programme-for-national-arts-companies-wales-research</a>)

The Leadership Diversity Programme aims to diversify those employed at a senior level within organisations, with the eight national arts companies of Wales (BBC National

Orchestra & Chorus of Wales, Ffilm Cymru Wales, Literature Wales, National Dance Company Wales, National Theatre Wales, Theatr Genedlaethol Cymru, Wales Millennium Centre and Welsh National Opera) creating fixed-term, 12-18 month posts at a senior level within their own organisations (and potentially within other Welsh cultural organisations).

Of particular relevance to NCACE is the insistence on co-design of the programme and roles with people representative of the groups from which the arts companies are seeking to recruit. There was a call for freelancers to help develop the programme, drawing on these principles of co-design, and undertaking wide consultation to make sure that a range of people's voices and experiences were being considered throughout the process.

The kinds of positions the National Companies were interested in creating were 'task and finish' roles that could make long-term positive change within their organisations, aligned with organisational activity and/or operational elements and with a clear focus on representation, equality and equity. Examples of the types of senior roles they looked to fill are: Head of Creative Development, Business and Commerce Leadership, Senior Digital Producer, Strategy Development Manager, etc.

## Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC)

https://www.ukri.org/councils/ahrc

The AHRC funds world-leading arts and humanities research in a wide range of subjects, ranging from history, archaeology, philosophy and languages to more contemporary research including the design and effectiveness of digital content and the impact of artificial intelligence. The AHRC's mission builds upon the idea that the UK's reputation as a creative powerhouse rests on the new knowledge and cultural experiences generated by the arts and humanities. Their support and continued existence is essential in light of current Government priorities, which have shifted away from the arts and humanities, leaving the disciplines to justify their continuing provision in UK universities.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Knowledge Exchange and Partnerships
(https://ahrc.ukri.org/innovation/knowledgeexchange/)

Knowledge Exchange exists at the very heart of the AHRC's strategy. As a funding body, the AHRC works to ensure that arts and humanities academic interests are diversified and enhanced through opportunities to:

- Engage in knowledge exchange and partnership work across their entire funding portfolio;
- Encourage co-creation and co-production of research agendas;
- Have a significant and transformative effect on the creative and cultural life and health and well-being of the nation;
- Enlarge the contribution to the arts, public engagement and policy formation.

A large proportion of the work supported by the AHRC feeds into the creative economy and the AHRC concentrates the majority of its knowledge exchange funding into its centres of excellence (Knowledge Exchange Hubs) in order to both facilitate interaction between arts and humanities research and the creative economy and translate and create significant benefit.

Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy (https://ahrc.ukri.org/innovation/knowledgeexchange/hubsforthecreativeeconomy/)

The AHRC committed £16 million (80% Full economic Costs (FeC)) during the period 2012-2016 to support four Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy.

Knowledge Exchange Hubs, working as consortia, connect excellent research in the arts and humanities with a range of creative and cultural organisations across the UK to accelerate growth and innovation, generate new and exciting knowledge exchange opportunities, foster entrepreneurial talent and contribute to the development of the UK's Creative Economy.

#### The 2012-2016 hubs were:

- The Creative Exchange (http://thecreativeexchange.org/) led by Lancaster University in partnership with the University of Newcastle and the Royal College of Art. The Creative Exchange was a knowledge exchange hub, exploring digital and the creative economy where anyone can access, explore and create content anywhere and at any time.
- Design in Action (https://ahrc.ukri.org/links/ke-hubs-and-partnerships/design-in-action/) led by the University of Dundee in partnership with Edinburgh
  College of Art at the University of Edinburgh, The Glasgow School of Art, Gray's
  School of Art at the Robert Gordon University, University of Abertay and St
  Andrews University.
- <u>Creative Works London (https://ahrc.ukri.org/links/ke-hubs-and-partnerships/creative-works-london/)</u> led by Queen Mary University of London and The Culture Capital Exchange in partnership with Birkbeck College, Central School of Speech and Drama, City University, the Courtauld Institute, Goldsmith

College, Kingston University, Guildhall School of Music and Drama, King's College London, Roehampton university, Royal Holloway, School of Oriental and African Studies, Trinity Laban Conservatoire of Music and Dance, University of the Arts and the University of London's Centre for Creative Collaboration. It has undertaken research into the cultural geographies of innovation in London, London's changing audiences, and modes of innovation within the digital economy.

• Research and Enterprise in the Arts and Creative Technologies (REACT)

(https://ahrc.ukri.org/links/ke-hubs-and-partnerships/react/react-researchand-enterprise-in-the-arts-and-creative-technologies/) led by the University of
the West of England Bristol in partnership with the University of Bristol,
University of Exeter, University of Bath, University of Cardiff, and the Watershed
Arts Trust. REACT released a report
(http://www.watershed.co.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2016-0922/reactreport.pdf) that distils their learning from the past four years, and
celebrates the great potential of collaboration between universities and the
creative sector.

The findings for the KE Hubs for the Creative Economy were published in a report, *Articulating Co-Creation for Economic and Cultural Value*, written by Georgina Follett and Jon Rogers and available here: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/publications/co-creation-report-2015/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/publications/co-creation-report-2015/</a>.

However, it is important to note that, since 2016, the AHRC has been focused more strongly on the Creative Industries, so knowledge exchange support (such as KTPs) have been inaccessible to the majority of the arts and cultural sectors.

Knowledge Exchange with Policymakers
(https://ahrc.ukri.org/innovation/knowledgeexchange/kewithpolicymakers/)

The AHRC encourages arts and humanities researchers to engage with policy-makers, practitioners and members of the public in a way that lays the groundwork for future policy impact, increasing the exposure of cutting-edge research to policy-makers across Government.

They carry this out through publication of case studies, advice and guidance, as well as providing training opportunities, including the Engaging with Government Programme and Policy Internships.

Knowledge Transfer Partnerships
(https://ahrc.ukri.org/innovation/knowledgeexchange/ktp/)

Knowledge Transfer Partnerships (KTP) is a UK-wide programme helping businesses and organisations to improve their competitiveness, productivity and performance through accessing the knowledge, technologies, expertise and skills that reside within UK Universities. The KTP scheme is operated and managed by Innovate UK.

A KTP serves to meet a core strategic need and to identify innovative solutions to help that business or organisation improve, grow and develop. KTP often delivers significantly increased profitability for business partners as a direct result of the partnership through improved quality and operations, increased sales and access to new markets. Social enterprises see improved results, too.

A KTP is a three-way partnership between an academic, a business partner (including private sector companies, charities and public sector organisations) and a recent graduate or postgraduate (known as the Associate), who is employed to work on the specific project relevant to the business partner.

Story Craft: The Importance of Narrative and Narrative Skills in Business (https://skope.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Storycraft-Full-Report.pdf)

The AHRC recently funded the report Storycraft: The Importance of Narrative and Narrative Skills in Business (https://skope.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Storycraft-Full-Report.pdf). Based on extensive interviews with thirty-four business leaders, including CEOs and Chairs of FTSE100 companies, the AHRC's report evidences exactly how businesses in the UK interpret and engage with storytelling as an essential part of their business.

The report additionally shows that the ability to devise, craft and deliver a successful narrative is a required skill at all levels - ranging across CEO, senior executive and all workers across the business. It engages with the challenge of telling clear stories about complex issues, which requires not only the ability to engage well with evidence well and act with integrity, but also to communicate with honesty and empathy. These skills are an irrevocable part of any arts and humanities degree, thus necessary both within and outside of the arts and cultural sector.

Storycraft was published at the same time as the British Academy's report on Knowledge Exchange in the Social Sciences, Humanities and the Arts (https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/news/knowledge-exchange-in-shape-disciplines-

<u>drives-growth-benefits-society-and-is-thriving-new-british-academy-report-argues</u>), with both reports clearly highlighting how fundamental the arts, humanities and social sciences are to translating science for policy makers and communities.

# **British Academy**

https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk

The British Academy is the UK's national academy for the humanities and social sciences, which are essential to understanding the world as it is, recognising what it can be and preparing for a better future.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Knowledge Exchange in the SHAPE Subjects
(https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/documents/3359/Knowledge-Exchange-in-the-SHAPE-subjects.pdf)

Following the release of the <u>first results of the Knowledge Exchange Framework</u> (<a href="https://kef.ac.uk/">https://kef.ac.uk/</a>) (KEF) in England, the British Academy published \*Knowledge Exchange in the SHAPE Subjects\*, presenting a diverse range of case studies showing that knowledge exchange in SHAPE disciplines - Social Sciences, Humanities and the Arts - leads to significant social, economic and cultural benefits. The report aims to support departments and institutions to complete submissions to the KEF and encourages SHAPE researchers to build and promote their knowledge exchange activity through the KEF dimensions and beyond. The report also makes suggestions for further development of the KEF to better capture this value.

However, while it does make some excellent points about best practices of knowledge exchange, it is heavily metric-led and at times feels like an instruction manual for responding to the KEF - albeit a very valuable one.

Knowledge Frontiers (<u>https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/programmes/knowledge-frontiers/</u>)

The activities carried out under this theme enable different communities of knowledge and practice to illustrate the unique added value of international and interdisciplinary collaboration.

#### **British Council**

https://www.britishcouncil.org

The British Council is a registered charity and public corporation that builds connections, understanding and trust between people in the UK and other countries through arts and culture, education and the English language. Their mission is to connect the best of the UK with the world and the best of the world with the UK, with these connections leading to understanding each other's strengths and the challenges and values that we share. The outcome of these activities is the establishment of trust between people in the UK and other nations.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Creative Spark: Higher Education Enterprise Programme (https://www.britishcouncil.org/education/he-science/creative-spark)

The Creative Spark: Higher Education Enterprise Programme is a five-year initiative (2018-2023) supporting university and institutional partnerships with the UK to develop entrepreneurship and enterprise skills for students and young entrepreneurs across seven countries: Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Azerbaijan, Armenia, Georgia. Creative Spark carries out these activities by enabling national policy forums, developing new curriculum and education materials, and establishing business incubation centres.

The programme was designed to support the underdeveloped creative enterprise sector through entrepreneurship education and supporting wealth and better job opportunities.

Cultural Skills Academy

(https://www.britishcouncil.org/cultural-skills-unit/projects/cultural-skills-academy)

The British Council launched the Cultural Skills Academy in response to the growing demand for skills development across a number of disciplines within the cultural sector and in collaboration with the Arts Marketing Association, The Audience Agency, Goldsmiths University and local partners in Greece and Poland. Cultural Skills Academy provides professional development short courses in the areas of Digital Strategies, Audience Development and Business Modelling, all tailored for those already working in the cultural sector.

#### CC Skills

https://www.ccskills.org.uk

Creative & Cultural Skills (CC Skills) is a national charity that creates opportunities for young people to work in and learn about the creative industries and allows employers to benefit from a skilled generation of young talent so that the UK can continue on a course of economic growth across the sector.

Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Knowledge Centre

(https://www.ccskills.org.uk/knowledge-centre)

The CC Skills Knowledge Centre provides information, advice and guidance to the creative and cultural sector that helps improve understanding about the value of apprenticeships and other non-traditional training routes and how these routes can support entry of a new and diverse group of workers into the sector. The Knowledge Centre also commissions and collates relevant research to help the creative industries sector overall to understand the challenges faced by the workforce and target their response through the programmes and services that they provide to the workforce.

## Clore Leadership Programme

https://www.cloreleadership.org

The Clore Leadership Programme is a not-for-profit initiative to develop and strengthen leadership potential across the cultural and creative sectors in the UK. The programme awards its Clore Fellowships on an annual basis to exceptional individuals drawn from across the UK and beyond and runs a choice of programmes tailored to the leadership needs of arts professionals at different stages of their career.

Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Cultural Leadership

(<u>https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership</u>)

Clore Leadership Programme's Cultural Leadership Insights explore a range of the issues and priorities faced by cultural leaders. Of particular relevance to NCACE are their Cultural Leadership Perspectives on Leadership in the following areas:

- Leading with Values (<a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/leading-values">https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/leading-values</a>)
- Civic Leadership (https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/civic-leadership)
- Collaborative Leadership (<a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/collaborative-leadership">https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/collaborative-leadership</a>)
- The Artist as Leader (<a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/artist-leader">https://www.cloreleadership.org/cultural-leadership/artist-leader</a>)

Clore Leadership Programme has also published two relevant provocation papers exploring arts leaderships within the context of contemporary issues and challenges in the UK.

Andy Brydon's provocation paper, "The Image is Something that is Earned. "Global Britain" and Cultural Leadership', investigates the strong economic and social cases for arts and culture presented in the UK, reflecting on the lack of impact these arguments have at a policy, treasury and governmental level – particularly within the context of UK Conservative leadership from 2019 to the present day. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/resources/image-something-earned-global-britain-and-cultural-leadership">https://www.cloreleadership.org/resources/image-something-earned-global-britain-and-cultural-leadership.</a>

Marianna Hay's provocation paper, 'Maestra: A Changing Model for Arts Leadership', is particularly empowering in exploring the effectiveness of women in leadership roles in the arts. Available from:

https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/marianna\_hay\_provoc ation\_paper\_final.pdf

#### **Creative Scotland**

https://www.creativescotland.com

Creative Scotland is the public body that supports the arts, screen and creative industries across Scotland. They enable people and organisations to work in and experience the arts, screen and creative industries in Scotland by helping others to develop great ideas and bring them to life, distributing funding from the Scottish Government and The National Lottery.

Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Place Programme (<u>https://www.creativescotland.com/funding/funding-programmes/targeted-funding/place-programme</u>)..

The Place Partnership Programme is a strategic programme that encourages and supports local partners to work together with their creative community. Each partnership aims to make significant interventions that address and respond to opportunities and challenges, while additionally helping to strengthen creative development in their area.

A small number of local partners, such as local authorities, cultural trusts, etc., are invited to submit an outline proposal for a Place Partnership on an annual basis. Proposals are invited based on the following principles:

- Locally initiated conversations with Creative Scotland on developing the cultural opportunities within the region indicating local readiness and understanding of the potential.
- A clear ambition and vision for developing creative opportunities.
- Indication from local partners that they could match Creative Scotland's funding contribution.

One example of a successful partnership within the programme was the Dundee Place Partnership (<a href="https://www.creativescotland.com/resources/our-publications/annual-reviews/2015-16/place-and-quality-of-life/creativity-thrives-in-dundee-with-new-place-partnership">https://www.creativescotland.com/resources/our-publications/annual-reviews/2015-16/place-and-quality-of-life/creativity-thrives-in-dundee-with-new-place-partnership</a>)

The Dundee Place Partnership was a collaboration between Creative Scotland, Dundee City Council, Leisure and Culture Dundee, the University of Dundee and Abertay University. The Partnership supported a series of initiatives and ambitious projects to encourage creativity in communities across Dundee and further strengthen the development of the arts, screen and creative industries in the city. The Partnership was launched in September 2015 and supported a number of key projects.

# **IDOX** Group

https://www.idoxgroup.com

IDOX builds software for government and industry to work better and comply with regulations.

Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

The Knowledge Exchange (https://theknowledgeexchangeblog.com/)

The Knowledge Exchange is the information and intelligence arm of IDOX, providing a range of information and knowledge products and services to support decision making in the public sector. Although their KE work is not specifically related to the arts and cultural sector, they cover all areas of local policy, focusing mainly on economic development, housing, planning and regeneration.

IDOX provides information, intelligence, analysis and research services and products that engage with policy and best practice for knowledge exchange by helping members achieve efficiencies, professional development and ensure effective policy and practice implementation.

They have a Knowledge Exchange Blog, which, though not arts-focused, engages with skills and capacity building for KE more broadly.

#### **Museums Association**

https://www.museumsassociation.org

The Museums Association is the main organisation for museums across the entire UK. As an independent and not-for-profit organisation, it advocates for museums without direct government or funding influences.

Its aim is to create, support and champion inclusive, participatory and sustainable museums at the heart of their communities. The Museums Association recognises the inherent differences in context, culture, legislation, policy and practice between the nations and champions equitable treatment for all UK members, no matter what nation they are based in.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Learning and Engagement: Manifesto for Museum Learning and Engagement (<a href="https://www.museumsassociation.org/campaigns/learning-and-engagement/manifesto/">https://www.museumsassociation.org/campaigns/learning-and-engagement/manifesto/</a>)

The Museums Association is committed to making arts and culture central to processes of civil renewal and social change and recognises that the sector is essential to the rebuilding of our societies. This manifesto builds upon two years of research, engagement and consultation with those working in and with museums across the UK. It provides a framework for all museums, whatever their history, scale, funding or model of governance, to reflect on their purpose and develop their practice.

There are key themes to the Manifesto:

- Cultural Rights and Cultural Democracy
- Social Justice
- Activism
- Community Participation
- Collections
- Research and Evaluation
- Partnerships
- Workforce

Key to NCACE's work on skills and capacity development is the Museums Association's focus on Research and Evaluation, Partnerships and Workforce.

Research and Evaluation: Highlights the need for museums to support 'people-centred research that responds to the challenges in society and leads to positive change'. Research must be 'purposeful, public-focused and meeting contemporary needs', not only carried out by those working within the museum sector, but those within the community and from the university sector – 'New knowledge developed with the support of museums may be created and led by activist researchers using cultural resources in their own localities. This research and new understanding can be used by communities to achieve change in society'.

<u>Partnerships</u>: Partnerships between museums and communities, and the organisations that represent them, bring fresh perspectives and insight to all areas of museum work, enabling museums to engage with new ideas, networks and people. Strong partnerships can help museums to understand the issues their communities are facing, support collaborative community participation, and bring them into contact with new networks of people that can then become new audiences, volunteers and staff.

<u>Workforce</u>: A representative, creative, and supported workforce is an essential foundation for this manifesto, and is critical to achieving its goals.

## National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement (NCCPE)

https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk

The National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement (NCCPE) is funded by UKRI (Research England), the Wellcome Trust and the devolved HE funding bodies (Department for Employment and Learning, Northern Ireland; Higher Education Funding Council for Wales; Scottish Funding Council) and led by the University of Bristol and University of the West of England (UWE). Their Museum-University Partnership Initiative is funded by ACE's Museum Resilience Fund.

The NCCPE supports the UK's higher education sector in making a vital, strategic and valued contribution to society through increasing the quality and impact of their public and community engagement activity via three strategic aims:

#### 1) Support excellent public engagement practice

- Provide people with the tools, training, resources and advice they need to engage or facilitate engagement within their organisation
  - <u>CPD & training (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/about-us/nccpe-projects-services/training)</u>
  - Engage Academy (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projectsservices/engage-academy)
  - Engagement Resources (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/resources)
- Collect learning from their projects and share it widely via their <u>publications</u> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/resources">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/resources</a>) and <u>projects</u> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects</a>)
- Create networking opportunities to enhance learning opportunities via the Engage conference (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/engage-conference)

### 2) Create the conditions for public engagement to thrive in universities

- Consultancy (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projectsservices/consultancy) to support universities in bringing about strategic change that embeds public engagement
- Products to help effect change
  - <u>Manifesto for Public Engagement</u>
     (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/support-engagement/manifesto-public-engagement/about-manifesto">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/support-engagement/manifesto-public-engagement/about-manifesto</a>)
  - EDGE tool (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/edge-tool)
  - Engage Watermark (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/engagewatermark)

- Identify, develop and disseminate evidence-informed practice through the
   <u>Research for All journal (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-services/research-all-journal)</u> and <u>other publications</u>
   (https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/resources)
- 3) Build strong networks and partnerships to amplify their impact
  - Encourage partners to work with the HE sector and to embed public engagement in their work, for example via the <u>Museum University Partnership Initiative</u> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-services/nccpe-projects/museum-university-partnership-initiative">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-services/nccpe-projects/museum-university-partnership-initiative</a>)
  - Challenge those working in higher education to learn from engagement experts
    from outside higher education, such as the <u>UK Community Partner Network</u>
    (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/about-us/connect/connect-with-others/uk-community-partner-network">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/about-us/connect/connect-with-others/uk-community-partner-network</a>)
  - Inform, influence and interpret policy, with examples available in <u>REF resources</u> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/about-engagement/public-engagement-and-ref">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/about-engagement/public-engagement-and-ref</a>)

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Enhancing Place-Based Partnerships in Public Engagement
(<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/nccpe-projects/enhancing-place-based-partnerships-public-engagement">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/nccpe-projects/enhancing-place-based-partnerships-public-engagement</a>)

Though not explicitly related to the arts and cultural sector, NCCPE is working with UKRI to support twenty-five funded projects that enable members of the public to actively contribute to research and innovation projects that affect their lives. These include a diverse range of topics, from plastic pollution and period poverty, to net zero carbon emissions and air quality. Each project encourages people who would not usually get involved in research to take part in discovery and innovation.

NCCPE supports skills and capacity development by working with those applicants who did not successfully secure funding to develop their skills in community engagement practice through training, networking, consultancy, peer-to-peer support and mentoring.

Museum-University Partnership Initiative (MUPI)
(<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/completed-projects/museum-university-partnership-initiative">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/completed-projects/museum-university-partnership-initiative</a>)

The Museum-University Partnership Initiative (MUPI) was funded by ACE's Museum Resilience Fund and delivered by NCCPE in partnership with the Share Academy project and Paddy McNulty Associates over two years between 2016-18. The MUPI pilot project demonstrated how the HE sector can be opened up to smaller and medium sized museums whose unique collections and engagement expertise are often an underutilised resource, whilst at the same time adding value to the work of the museums involved and contributing to their long term resilience. .

Partnership Working (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/do-engagement/partnership-working">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/do-engagement/partnership-working</a>)

There's an entire section on NCCPE's website dedicated to supporting best practice for working with partners, with a detailed guide to developing effective and equitable partnerships. In terms of the arts and cultural sector, there are sections related specifically to working with <a href="mailto:museums and libraries">museums and libraries</a> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/do-engagement/partnership-working/working-with-museums-and-libraries">museums-and-libraries</a>) and <a href="mailto:festivals">festivals</a> (<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/do-engagement/partnership-working/working-with-festivals</a>).

PEPTogether: Knowledge Exchange and Public Engagement
(<a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/professional-development/peptogether-online-get-togethers">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/nccpe-projects-and-services/professional-development/peptogether-online-get-togethers</a>)

NCCPE has been running their PEPTogether series of online events since March 2020. PEPTogether serves as an online space for public engagement professionals to come together and share the highs and lows of life during the pandemic and support one another in adapting to new ways of working, thinking and doing.

On 17th June 2021, the NCCPE explored the KEF, KE Concordat and the role of community and public engagement. The session was led by Sacha Ayres (Senior Policy Adviser in Knowledge Exchange at Research England) and Allice Hocking (Head of Research Impact and Partnerships at the University of Plymouth) and reflected on the practical processes involved in the KEF, future plans for the process, and the KE Concordat Action planning process.

Throughout the session, comments, questions and reflections were captured on a Padlet board. Prior to the event, Allice Hocking reflected on the experience of preparing a KEF Public and Community Engagement narrative for the NCCPE blog, which is available here: <a href="https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/whats-new/blog/public-and-community-engagement-and-kef-university-plymouth-story">https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/whats-new/blog/public-and-community-engagement-and-kef-university-plymouth-story</a>.

## National Council for Voluntary Organisations (NCVO)

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/about-us

NCVO champions the voluntary sector and volunteering as essential for a better society. Representing over 16,000 voluntary organisations, charities, community groups and social enterprises across England, NCVO supports its members by developing practical resources designed to support the day-to-day running of their organisations. They work with and for the voluntary sector, connecting, representing and supporting voluntary organisations by:

- Connecting organisations with the people, partners and resources they need to make the biggest difference;
- Representing the voluntary sector and volunteering to government using the best research, we demonstrate their true value and help influence policy-makers; and
- Supporting voluntary organisations by generating and identifying the best knowledge and expertise.

### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Cultural Commissioning Programme (<a href="https://www.ncvo.org.uk/practical-support/information/public-services/cultural-commissioning-programme">https://www.ncvo.org.uk/practical-support/information/public-services/cultural-commissioning-programme</a>)

The Cultural Commissioning Programme was led by NCVO with New Philanthropy Capital (NPC) and New Economics Foundation (NEF) and received funding from Arts Council England (ACE). From 2013 to 2017, the Cultural Commissioning Programme (CCP) supported arts and cultural organisations, including arts organisations, museums and libraries, to come together with public service commissioners. It helped them explore ways of working to deliver better outcomes for people and communities. The programme focussed on mental health and wellbeing, older people, and place-based commissioning although the knowledge gained is transferable to other public service areas.

The programme also connected with national policy makers and influencers to raise awareness of the benefits of using arts and culture to engage with people, and to address health and social inequalities. It was designed to understand the opportunities for arts and cultural organisations to engage with public sector commissioning and support them to do so effectively. The programme did not advocate for arts and cultural organisations to engage with public sector commissioning, but rather encouraged them to better understand opportunities, assess whether they are suitable, and to engage effectively.

From 2014-2016, there was also the Learning Programme, an England-wide programme to support arts and cultural organisations to build the knowledge and skills needed to engage with public service commissioners and to demonstrate impact on public service outcomes. It provided individualised support for arts and cultural networks and commissioners across shared priorities.

The final evaluation report is available here:

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultural-commissioning-programme-evaluation-may-2016.pdf.

The evaluation found that phase one of the programme was successful in significantly increasing the knowledge and skills of arts and cultural organisations to engage with local commissioning. The evidence also demonstrated that the program improved the confidence of arts and cultural organisations in diversifying their income and audiences through commissioning and producing high quality work in a public service context.

Another output arising from the programme was *Opportunities for Alignment: Arts and Cultural Organisations and Public Sector Commissioning* (2014), a research report written by Sally Bagwell, David Bull, Iona Joy and Marina Svistak. Available here: <a href="http://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultural-commissioning/full-report-opp-for-alignment-arts-cultural-orgs-public-sector.pdf">http://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultural-orgs-public-sector.pdf</a>.

Additionally, Arts Professional worked in partnership with the Cultural Commissioning Programme to present a series of articles and case studies to help arts and cultural organisations to engage with public service commissioning, win contracts and deliver outcomes.

## Office for Students (OfS)

https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk

The Office for Students (OfS) is the independent regulator of higher education in England. They work with higher education providers to make sure that students succeed in higher education.

Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF) (<a href="https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/the-higher-education-innovation-fund-heif/">https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/the-higher-education-innovation-fund-heif/</a>)

OfS provides funding for knowledge exchange via the £230 million Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF) to support and develop a broad range of knowledge-based interactions between higher education providers (HEPs) and the wider world, which results in benefits to the economy and society. HEIF supports and incentivises providers to work with business, public and third-sector organisations, community bodies and the wider public, to exchange knowledge and increase the economic and societal benefit from their work. From time to time, they commission evidence to demonstrate the value delivered by HEIF funding, which shows that HEIF provides a strong return on investment, with £6.10 generated for every £1 of funding.

Knowledge Exchange Funding Competition
(<a href="https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/funding-for-providers/knowledge-exchange-funding-competition/">https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/funding-for-providers/knowledge-exchange-funding-competition/</a>)

OfS and Research England provided £10 million in funding to twenty HE providers to explore the impact of student involvement in knowledge exchange. The initiative focused on the idea that investigating better evidence of the benefits of knowledge exchange for students will help the OfS not only share good practice across the sector, but also improve future knowledge exchange activities.

OfS recognises the knowledge exchange process as one that brings together academics, research beneficiaries and users and the wider community to share ideas, evidence and expertise in a mutually beneficial way. As well as being considered one part of a university's research activity, it also includes activities that share HE knowledge and skills with businesses and communities outside the university sector, such as:

- Partnerships between universities and major manufacturers
- Industry-related curriculum development
- Work placements for students
- Graduate start-ups supported by incubator spaces at providers.

However, though skills development for students is included in the programme through individual HEIs, it is unknown at this stage exactly how many are focused on the arts and cultural sector.

#### PraxisAuril

https://www.praxisauril.org.uk

PraxisAuril is a UK-based professional association for knowledge exchange practitioners with a global network containing more than 5,000 active knowledge exchange professionals from more than 182 member organisations.

They define knowledge exchange as a 'collaborative, creative endeavour that translates knowledge and research into impact in society and the economy' and their focus on the creative aspect of knowledge exchange is reflected in their training offer, with a move away from the strong IP focus found in the sciences. The training programme has a clear link between the university and arts and cultural sector, co-led by Andrew Wray, who is currently Head of Knowledge Exchange at University of Bristol and led Bristol's support for the AHRC funded REACT Knowledge Exchange Hub.

### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

The State of the KE Profession (<u>https://www.praxisauril.org.uk/resource/state-ke-profession-survey-2018</u>)

This report discusses the results of a UK-wide survey to assess the state of the Knowledge Exchange and Commercialisation (KEC) profession. Open to PraxisAuril members and non-members, their survey received 206 responses across a range of roles and levels of seniority from professionals based in Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) and thirteen from non-HEI stakeholders. From the low response rate from non-HEI members, PraxisAuril argues for the need to better connect with non-academic research organisations in order to understand their practices, challenges and unmet needs.

Knowledge Exchange Awards 2021 (https://www.keawards.org.uk/)

The KE Awards organised by PraxisAuril celebrates the people who help to initiate and deliver impact and outcomes from publicly funded research through a diverse range of partners and activities.

The press release is here: <a href="https://www.praxisauril.org.uk/news/news/praxisauril-knowledge-exchange-awards-2021-are-open-entries">https://www.praxisauril.org.uk/news/news/praxisauril-knowledge-exchange-awards-2021-are-open-entries</a>.

# Research England

https://re.ukri.org

Research England is a new research council within UK Research and Innovation (http://www.ukri.org/) (UKRI) that oversees UKRI's England-only functions in relation to university research and knowledge exchange, including providing grant funding to English universities for research and knowledge exchange activities; developing and implementing the Research Excellence Framework (REF) in partnership with the UK

Higher Education funding bodies; overseeing the sustainability of the Higher Education research base in England; managing the £900 million UK Research Partnership Investment Fund (https://re.ukri.org/funding/our-funds-overview/uk-research-partnership-investment-fund/); and administering the Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF) (https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/the-higher-education-innovation-fund-heif/).

### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Connecting Capability Fund (CCF) (<u>https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/the-connecting-capability-fund-ccf/</u>)

The Connecting Capability Fund (CCF) complements Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF) by supporting HE collaboration in commercialisation through competitive projects and formula funds. The CCF aims to share good practice and capacity internally across the higher education sector, forge external technological, industrial and regional partnerships, and deliver the Government's Industrial Strategy priorities.

HE-BCI survey

(https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/the-he-bci-survey/)

The Higher Education Business & Community Interaction (HE-BCI) survey collects financial and output data related to knowledge exchange (KE) each academic year, and has been running since 1999.

The annual survey reports provide information on a range of activities, from business and public or third sector involvement in research, to consultancy and the commercialisation of intellectual property. It also explores other activities intended to have direct societal benefits such as the provision of continuing professional development and continuing education courses, and the provision of, for example, lectures, exhibitions and other cultural activities.

Research England also uses data from the HE-BCI survey to inform the allocation of the Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF).

Knowledge Exchange Concordat (https://www.keconcordat.ac.uk/)

Research England supports HE providers and Universities UK to develop and deliver a KE Concordat setting out institutional good practice and principles in KE.

The KE Concordat has developed under the chairmanship of Professor Trevor McMillan, the Vice-Chancellor of Keele University, and is supported by Universities UK, GuildHE and Research England. The final version of the Concordat with implementation plans and further information has been published on a new standalone web-portal.

The Concordat complements the KEF by providing the means to continuously improve institutional KE performance measured in KEF outcomes and complements HEIF by providing the means to improve efficiency and effectiveness in the use of public funding for KE.

Universities who wished to be involved in the KE Concordat signed up to the priorities and/or the development year. During the development year, institutional self-evaluations will be carried out across the UK, and in England the appointed Evaluation Group, chaired by Dr Phil Clare, will provide feedback to each participant, as well as a sector-wide summary and evaluation.

Knowledge Exchange Framework (KEF) (<u>https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/knowledge-exchange-framework/</u>)

The KEF seeks to increase the efficiency and effectiveness in the use of public funding for knowledge exchange and further a culture of continuous improvement in universities.

The preliminary results from the first KEF exercise are available on the new dashboard here: <a href="https://kef.ac.uk/dashboard">https://kef.ac.uk/dashboard</a>.

National Centre for Academic and Cultural Exchange (NCACE) (https://ncace.ac.uk)

NCACE is a four-year initiative led by <u>The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE)</u> (<a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/areas-of-work/ncace/">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/areas-of-work/ncace/</a>) and funded by Research England. They facilitate and support capacity for knowledge exchange between higher education and the arts and cultural sector across the UK, with a particular focus on evidencing and showcasing the social, cultural, environmental, as well as economic, impacts of such activities.

NCACE currently has four regional hub partners: Bath Spa University, Birmingham City University, Manchester Metropolitan University and Northumbria University. However, with its focus on realising and communicating the potential of knowledge

exchange with the arts and culture sector, NCACE activities are open to all universities in the country and to those working in the arts and cultural sector.

NCACE's work will be primarily in the following areas:

- 1. <u>Brokerage, Collaboration Support and Networking (https://ncace.ac.uk/areas-ofwork)</u>
- 2. Evidencing and Impact Development (https://ncace.ac.uk/areas-of-work)
- 3. Skills and Capacity Development (https://ncace.ac.uk/areas-of-work)
- 4. Showcasing and Communication (https://ncace.ac.uk/areas-of-work)

Between 2021 and 2024, NCACE will develop an <u>Evidence Hub</u> (<a href="https://ncace.ac.uk/evidence-hub/">https://ncace.ac.uk/evidence-hub/</a>), addressing the need for more and better evidence on the scale, extent, nature, drivers, and broader impacts of knowledge exchange and collaborations between HE and the arts and culture sectors.

Research England Development (RED) Fund (<a href="https://re.ukri.org/funding/our-funds-overview/research-england-development-red-fund/">https://re.ukri.org/funding/our-funds-overview/research-england-development-red-fund/</a>)

The RED Fund commits up to £27 million in annual funding to drive innovation in research and KE in higher education in line with Government and UKRI priorities.

The current set of priorities are:

- Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) in research and knowledge exchange
- Strategic research collaborations
- Delivering industrial strategy through knowledge exchange
- Creating opportunities to consolidate existing, or develop new opportunities, for international collaborations

As these priorities are spread across those of the eight research councils, there is opportunity to apply for RED funding in support of collaborations with the arts and cultural sector; however, of the twenty-three current projects, there is one current project in the creative industries - The Screen Industries Growth Network (SIGN) - being carried out by University of York.

University Commercialisation and Innovation (UCI) Policy Evidence Unit, University of Cambridge (https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/research/uci-policy-unit/knowledgehub/)

The UCI Policy Evidence Unit supports governments and university leaders in delivering a step change in the contributions universities make to innovation and economic prosperity – nationally and locally – through their commercialisation and

other innovation-focused activities and partnerships. The UCI Policy Evidence Unit was established through a grant from the Research England Development Fund.

To support rigorous and effective decision-making, the Unit carries out the following types of activities:

- Targeted studies to fill key evidence gaps hampering the development of effective UCI public policies and university practices
- Policy-focused reviews of the state-of-the-art academic research and the latest developments internationally in UCI policy/practice to improve understanding of key UCI-relevant concepts, issues and international trends
- Data development projects to improve the quality and robustness of data and metrics available on university commercialisation and innovation
- Active support for policy-makers and analysts in using the emerging evidence, concepts and tools in their decision-making activities

The resources and publications produced by the unit provide a detailed and in-depth set of case studies, best practices and policy papers that strongly show and support growth of collaboration between HEIs and industry. However, though the work touches upon the creative industries sector, it does not delve into the arts and cultural sector in any real depth.

 $\label{lem:university} \begin{tabular}{ll} University Enterprise Zones (UEZ) ($\underline{https://re.ukri.org/knowledge-exchange/university-enterprise-zones/) \end{tabular}$ 

The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) provided £15 million in capital funding between 2014-2017 to fund four pilot UEZs. The first four successful bids were: Bradford (Leeds City Region), Bristol, Liverpool and Nottingham

The UEZ programme recognises the critical role universities have to play in supporting local and regional economies, such as disseminating knowledge, sharing innovation with industry, supporting entrepreneurs and providing communities with the skilled workforces they need. Many UK universities already do this well, but by establishing new UEZs focused on generating and commercialising innovation and delivering skills that best serve their key local sectors, more universities will embed KE and associated activities into their everyday business.

In 2019, the UEZ programme funded an additional twenty incubator projects across England; however, there is not a particular focus on the arts and cultural sector. Rather, the main focus points seem to be on STEAM, digital, AI, technology and wellbeing.

## Skills Development Scotland (SDS)

https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk

Across Scotland, SDS supports individuals to build their career management, workbased and employability skills throughout their entire career journey.

Their website contains lots of detailed analysis of skills and capacity-building, graduate employment and apprenticeship models across Scotland, but none related to knowledge exchange, knowledge transfer, collaboration, co-design or creative leadership in the arts and cultural sector.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Knowledge Exchange (<u>https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/what-we-do/research-and-insight/knowledge-exchange/</u>)

- PhD Network: The PhD Networking Event, hosted by Skills Development Scotland (SDS), gives delegates the chance to find out more about the work of SDS's sponsored PhD students.
- PRAXIS: In collaboration with the Centre for Work-based Learning, a number of PRAXIS events are held each year with the aim of stimulating debate on current and emerging work-based learning issues in Scotland and providing a forum for discussion.
- Roundtable: In collaboration with the Centre for Work-based learning (CWBL),
   SDS supports a series of Roundtable events to allow colleagues to contribute
   constructively and critically on research plans.
- Seminar Series: The Student Seminar Series is an opportunity for the SDS PhD students to come together and discuss their ongoing research. The seminars are led by one of our PhD students, providing a safe environment to present their research to date and invite feedback and questions from fellow students.
- It also provides an opportunity for the students to network, exchange ideas and develop links between related topics, maximising the contribution the PhD students are making to policy with relevant academic research.

# The Audience Agency

https://www.theaudienceagency.org

The Audience Agency is a charity that enables cultural organisations to use their national data to increase relevance, reach and resilience. Funded by ACE as a Sector Support

Organisation, they lead on supporting cultural organisations to gain a deeper understanding of current and potential audiences. Their overall mission is to give the public a voice in shaping a vibrant, relevant culture and they believe arts, culture and heritage have the power to improve the quality of people's lives, to create meaning and community and to promote empathy and learning.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Cultural Skills Academy (<u>https://www.britishcouncil.org/cultural-skills-unit/projects/cultural-skills-academy</u>)

The British Council launched the Cultural Skills Academy in response to the growing demand for skills development across a number of disciplines within the cultural sector and in collaboration with the Arts Marketing Association, The Audience Agency, Goldsmiths University and local partners in Greece and Poland. Cultural Skills Academy provides professional development short courses in the areas of Digital Strategies, Audience Development and Business Modelling, all tailored for those already working in the cultural sector.

Place-shaping and Collaboration (<a href="https://www.theaudienceagency.org/solutions/placeshaping-collaboration">https://www.theaudienceagency.org/solutions/placeshaping-collaboration</a>)

Creativity and collaboration are at the heart of place-shaping. The Audience Agency helps cultural organisations to achieve meaningful cultural change, working in place-based partnerships with HEIs and industry and policy partners. One of their partners is the Centre for Cultural Value (https://www.culturalvalue.org.uk/).

Participation and Learning (https://www.theaudienceagency.org/solutions/participation-learning)

The Audience Agency develops and evaluates programmes to gain understanding of participatory audiences. They provide support to engage a range of audiences with specific interests, including families and local communities, younger and older people, informal and formal learning audiences, people with support needs, and people with disabilities, most of which are in the arts and cultural sector.

Evidence Hub: Sectors (<u>https://www.theaudienceagency.org/bounce-forwards-evidence-hub-2/sector-evidence-artforms</u>)

There's an interesting section on engaging with different sectors (Libraries & Literature, Museums, Galleries & Heritage, Outdoor Arts & Festivals, and Performing Arts) that can be a useful tool for universities, but the Audience Agency itself does not provide any case studies or toolkits specifically for universities.

## The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE)

https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk

TCCE (The Culture Capital Exchange) is an experienced leader with a well-established reputation for designing, developing and delivering successful, effective and ground-breaking collaborations and knowledge exchange programmes between HE and the arts and cultural sectors for mutual benefit and wider impact.

TCCE produces programmes, events and resources to catalyse and support research collaborations, knowledge exchange and public engagement. They also engage other areas for research, the arts and more widely, such as resilience, health and digital creativity.

Many of the larger-scale programmes are developed in collaboration with funders and partners from academia and beyond. Some examples of these include: <a href="Boosting">Boosting</a>
Resilience (<a href="http://www.boostingresilience.net/">http://www.boostingresilience.net/</a>), funded by Arts Council England (ACE), <a href="The Exchange (http://www.wearetheexchange.org/">The Exchange (http://www.wearetheexchange.org/</a>), funded by ACE and Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) and <a href="Creativeworks London">Creativeworks London</a> (<a href="http://www.creativeworkslondon.org.uk/">http://www.creativeworkslondon.org.uk/</a>), funded by the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC).

Partnership, collaboration and knowledge exchange, in its widest sense, are at the heart of everything they do. TCCE focuses particularly on bringing Higher Education together with arts, culture and creative sector and further afield for mutual exchange and wider social, cultural, environmental and economic benefit.

#### Sample of KE Initiatives/Funded Projects

Creative Works London
(http://www.creativeworkslondon.org.uk/)

Together with Queen Mary, University of London, TCCE co-developed the partnership base and led on the design and delivery of the Knowledge Exchange Programmes for Creativeworks London, one of four major AHRC Knowledge Exchange Hubs in the UK.

From 2012-16, Creative Works London supported 109 collaborative research projects between academic researchers and small-scale arts, cultural and creative organisations in London through various funding mechanisms. These included: Creative Vouchers Scheme, Researcher-in-Residence Scheme, Creative Entrepreneur-in-Residence Scheme and Boost Follow-on funding scheme.

Inside Out Festival
(http://www.insideoutfestival.org.uk/2017/)

The first festival of higher education and the arts, the Inside Out Festival was established in 2008 as a means of bringing research to wider publics. The festival ran for almost a decade and it gave all TCCE network members the opportunity to collaborate with many cultural organisations in London to produce a wonderful series of talks, walks, workshops, debates, concerts, hackathons, exhibitions, installations and flash-mobs each year.

Some of those collaborations over those years included: Freud Museum, The British Academy, The National Portrait Gallery, RSA, Editorial Intelligence, Tate Britain and Somerset House. Times Higher Education was the Festival's regular media partner.

#### REF, Impact and KEF

The issue of research impact within the REF is one that TCCE have been working on with members over many years. TCCE first tackled the subject back in 2006 when it was still a nascent area, commissioning research on the impacts of some of the early London Centre for Arts and Cultural Exchange (LCACE) Seed Fund projects.

Since then TCCE has programmed regular events on the topic including:

- Impact Narratives
  (https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2010/03/22/impact-narratives2/)
- The Impact of Impact (<a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2015/02/09/the-impact-of-impact/">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2015/02/09/the-impact-of-impact/</a>)
- The Ref: How was it for You Research (https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2014/02/12/ref-how-was-it-for-you/).
- Research, Creative Practice and Impact Roundtable

  (<a href="https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/tcce-presents-research-creative-practice-and-impact-round-table-tickets-25970666964">https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/tcce-presents-research-creative-practice-and-impact-round-table-tickets-25970666964</a>)

• REF 2021: Impact Guidance Workshop (https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2018/10/30/ref-2021-impact-guidance-workshop/)

The Exchange

(http://www.wearetheexchange.org/)

In 2016, TCCE launched the National Network Pilot Project funded by Arts Council England and HEFCE called The Exchange, which brought together Early Career Researchers (ECRs), artists and creative SMES to explore research collaborations and to enrich the ecology between the Academy and the Creative and Cultural Industries.

The Exchange distributed 26 Collaborative Research Awards in three tranches over the two year pilot programme. The Exchange was a significant milestone for TCCE in that it enabled them to take their work into a national context and to work with partners from all parts of the country.

The final project report is available here: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Revealing-Collaborative-Values.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Revealing-Collaborative-Values.pdf</a>.

Walking the City (https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/2016/03/11/walking-the-city-2016-tcces-annual-walking-weekend/)

TCCE's research communities are continually at the forefront of generating fresh and compelling knowledge about many facets of our city and urban life.

Walking the City is a TCCE initiative that aims to take that amazing research and knowledge beyond the academy, out of the lecture theatre and onto the streets, bringing to wider attention some of the outstanding work taking place in our universities.

Walks have taken place throughout the city in areas as diverse as: Harsleden, Mayfair, Bloomsbury, Shoreditch, Stepney Green and Stratford.

## UK Research and Innovation (UKRI)

https://www.ukri.org/our-work

UKRI is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), bringing together the seven disciplinary research councils; Research England, which is responsible for supporting research and knowledge exchange at higher education institutions in England; and the UK's innovation agency, Innovate UK.

Bringing the nine organisations together allows for a great depth and breadth of expertise, allowing them to connect research communities, institutions, businesses and wider society, in the UK and around the world.

While UKRI is the overarching body, please note that a couple of the research councils (AHRC and Research England) are included separately in this report, so the various KE initiatives and projects sponsored across these, such as KEF and the KE Concordat, have not been duplicated in this section.

#### Also of interest:

Third Sector Knowledge Exchange Collaborative, University of Glasgow (https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/third-sector-knowledge-exchange-collaborative/)

# Appendix II: Doctoral Training Partnerships/University Doctoral Initiatives

## AHRC Scottish Graduate School for Arts and Humanities

https://www.sgsah.ac.uk

Working with supporters in the arts, culture, creative and heritage sectors, they support positive connections and productive networks locally, regionally and globally to provide outstanding opportunities for doctoral researchers in Scotland.

Led by the University of Glasgow in collaboration with University of Aberdeen, University of Dundee, University of Edinburgh, University of St Andrews, University of Stirling, University of Strathclyde and Glasgow School of Art in partnership with 30 organisations.

Knowledge Exchange Hubs
(https://www.sgsah.ac.uk/e\_t/ke-hubs/)

SGSAH's Knowledge Exchange Hubs build connections between doctoral researchers in arts and humanities, society and the economy. They deliver industry-focused training events in collaboration with our industry partners across the creative arts, heritage and third sectors.

There are three KE Hubs, each with different sectoral focus. All of the Hubs will be delivering year-round training events:

- Citizenship, Culture and Ethics (<a href="https://www.sgsah.ac.uk/partners/ke-hubs/citizenshipcultureandethics/">https://www.sgsah.ac.uk/partners/ke-hubs/citizenshipcultureandethics/</a>)
- Heritage (https://www.sgsah.ac.uk/e\_t/ke-hubs/heritage/)
- Creative Economies (https://www.sgsah.ac.uk/partners/ke-hubs/creativeeconomies/)..

# Cambridge AHRC DTP

https://www.ahredtp.csah.cam.ac.uk

The Cambridge AHRC DTP brings together outstanding UK and EU postgraduate students in a programme that meets and challenges the highest international standards with respect to its intellectual and academic excellence.

England, Collections Trust, Norfolk Museums and Archive Service and Social Media Knowledge Exchange project

Partnership Arrangements: Two Approaches, Two New Collaborations

DTP students benefit from the University's dual approach to partnerships in doctoral training, including both the University's commitment to flexibility in supporting individual student needs will ensure their access to properly tailored collaborations and ensuring students remain integral to the development of flagship partnerships with non-HEI organisations.

The DTP facilitates a broad range of formal and informal partnerships within the UK and abroad in order to emphasize 'one-off' research collaborations, placements and internships.

A new statement of partnership between the University of Cambridge and ACE includes provision for DTP students, potentially offering DTP students access to all ACE supported cultural organisations in the region.

The DTP will also develop two new collaborations supported through the recent AHRC Skills Development Call.

Connecting with Collections: A collaboration offering internships in a museum setting, and involving: University of Cambridge Museums; SHARE (a museum training and resource exchange scheme for the East of England); the Collections Trust; the Institute of Conservation; and the British Museum.

The Social Media Knowledge Exchange: A collaboration providing young researchers with high quality training in the use of social media in an academic context, and involving: the University of Cambridge Centre for Arts, Social Sciences and Humanities (CRASSH); the Institute of Historical Research; the UCL Digital Research Centre; the University of Glasgow Humanities Advanced Information Institute; and a range of further partners.

# Cambridge ESRC DTP

https://www.esrcdtp.group.cam.ac.uk

The Cambridge ESRC DTP has been recognised as a leading outlet of social science graduate training and will be supporting a minimum of thirty-three promising students each year from 2017-2022. Over the last two years, they have managed to increase that to

forty-one with match-funding. While the examples below sit outside of the arts and cultural sector, it shows that there is an appetite for supporting knowledge exchange activities at PhD level as part of a wider professional development programme for researchers at all levels of their careers. The options below are an excellent example of best practice that can be applied to development of skills and capacity for collaboration between universities and the arts and cultural sector.

Knowledge Exchange Studentships (<u>https://www.esrcdtp.group.cam.ac.uk/our-external-partners/activities-for-partners/knowledge-exchange-studentships</u>)

Match-funding of Knowledge exchange studentships (KES) is a very popular and rewarding engagement for partners as they are expected to contribute only up to a maximum of 50% of the total costs of the studentship. This provides partners with the opportunity to create high quality PhD studentships undertaking cutting-edge research relevant to their priorities and objectives.

Knowledge exchange projects must align with ESRC criteria for collaboration, demonstrating substantial non-academic user engagement; collaboration itself can take many forms but must provide practical experience of working with non-academic partners to enable students to develop broad professional and managerial skills.

Knowledge Exchange Seminars and Networking Events
(<a href="https://www.esrcdtp.group.cam.ac.uk/our-external-partners/activities-for-partners/training-seminars-networking">https://www.esrcdtp.group.cam.ac.uk/our-external-partners/activities-for-partners/training-seminars-networking</a>)

The Cambridge ESRC DTP has a defined strategy for encouraging organisations to benefit from partnership with the Cambridge ESRC DTP and the wider social sciences at Cambridge through a variety of mechanisms such as delivery of knowledge exchange seminars (e.g. employability days) or through masterclass events related to particular topics like Energy or Sustainable Transport.

There are ongoing opportunities for external partner organizations to work with the University of Cambridge in knowledge exchange activities of mutual interest- in the form of workshops, seminars and networking events.

Internships and Innovation Placements (<u>https://www.esrcdtp.group.cam.ac.uk/our-external-partners/activities-for-partners/internships-and-placements</u>)

This scheme provides Cambridge Social Science Partnership funded PhD students with the opportunity to spend between 1-6 months in a non-academic organisation to work on projects that develop and utilise research and transferable skills. We encourage students from all disciplines to apply as internships are a chance to gain 'real world' experience and apply transferable research skills outside the HE sector.

## CHASE AHRC DTP

https://www.chase.ac.uk

The Consortium for the Humanities and the Arts South-East England (CHASE) brings together 9 leading institutions engaged in collaborative research activities including an AHRC doctoral training partnership. As an active consortium of nine research-intensive institutions, CHASE fosters collaborations that provide inspiring research-led training across the arts, humanities and creative practices.

Knowledge Exchange Hub (https://www.chasekeh.co.uk)

CHASE Knowledge Exchange Hub (KEH) is a resource for CHASE scholars, supervisors, and non-higher-education institutions with an interest in the arts and humanities.

The KEH provides practical advice and guidance on all aspects of knowledge exchange, including how to approach external partners, how to design a project, and how to obtain funding for collaborative activities.

 $Knowledge\ Exchange\ in\ Practice\ (\underline{https://www.chasekeh.co.uk/knowledge-exchange-in-practice})$ 

Knowledge Exchange in Practice presents a series of case studies evidencing the collaborations that CHASE PhD researchers have undertaken with non-HE organisations.

# London Arts & Humanities Partnership (LAHP)

https://www.lahp.ac.uk

LAHP was created in 2014 as an AHRC Doctoral Training Partnership between King's College London, School of Advanced Study (University of London), and University College London. Queen Mary University of London and the London School of Economics & Political Science joined the partnership as associate members in 2015-16. As part of its renewal of AHRC funding in 2018, the LAHP partnership expanded to eight partners, adding: Royal Central School of Speech & Drama, Royal College of Art, and Royal College

of Music. LAHP currently has over 300 funded students and, in line with its original vision, all LAHP training is available to both LAHP-funded and non-funded students across the partnership.

Working in partnership with LAHP's eight university partners are six core delivery partners: Museum of London,; The National Archives, the Metropolitan Police, Google, the Victoria & Albert Museum and the Wellcome Trust.

Their Research Training Programme offers regular options linked to knowledge exchange, such as *Research In, With, and For Museums* (https://www.lahp.ac.uk/research-in-with-and-for-museums-a-workshop-for-phd-students/).

North West Consortium Doctoral Training Partnership (NWCDTP) (http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/) (http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/)

The NWCDTP is funded by the AHRC and seeks to establish a centre of excellence in the arts and humanities, with students serving an active role in shaping their own learning across arts and humanities disciplines and outside the university sector.

Knowledge Exchange Strategy
(http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/knowledgeexchange/)

The NWCDTP provides doctoral students with a range of opportunities to develop awareness about the KE potential of their research, including how to identify how research can be relevant to contexts and communities beyond academia and to develop these ideas in the most relevant directions for students' own research interests, aspirations and careers goals.

KE activities fall into four main groups:

- Community-based: e.g. lectures for the community; school projects; social enterprise activity; performing arts and related cultural activities; museums and art galleries; heritage and tourism activities; public exhibitions; and community-based sports.
- Commercial: patenting, licensing, spin outs and business consultancy.
- People-based: e.g. creating and participating in networks; lectures for the community; sitting on advisory boards; employee training; standard-setting forums; curriculum development; and enterprise education.
- Problem-solving: e.g. joint research and/or publications with external organisations; consultancy services; contract research; secondment to external organisations; prototyping and testing; setting up new physical facilities.

The NWCDTP also offers the following initiatives:

- PhD Placements (http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/nwcdtp-placement-scheme/)
  - o Researcher-Led
  - o Partner-Led
  - o External Schemes
- Collaborative Doctoral Awards (http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/partners/collaborative-phds/)
- Strategic Partners (<a href="http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/partners/">http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/partners/</a>)

#### Some of their recent completed KE projects include:

- Public Engagement Pilot Project (<a href="http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/partnerships/past-projects/public-engagement-pilot/">http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/partnerships/past-projects/public-engagement-pilot/</a>)
  - In 2015 NWCDTP successfully bid for £30,000 from the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC) to support a public engagement pilot training programme. The programme aimed to showcase the role of arts and humanities research in public policy-making processes.
  - Full report, 'NWCDTP Public Policy Engagement Programme (2016), available here:
    - https://documents.manchester.ac.uk/display.aspx?DocID=28556
- Upcoming Events:
  - How to: Knowledge Exchange, November 2021
     (http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/training/how-to-knowledge-exchange/)
- There's also an evidence bank of KE case studies, available from: http://www.nwcdtp.ac.uk/case-studies/.

# Northern Bridge Consortium Doctoral Training Partnership (NBC)

http://www.northernbridge.ac.uk

Northern Bridge Consortium is a Doctoral Training Partnership funded by the AHRC bringing together Durham University, Newcastle University, Northumbria University, Queen's University Belfast, Sunderland University, Teesside University and Ulster University and their strategic partners.

NBC offers up to sixty-seven funded studentships per year to outstanding postgraduate researchers across the full range of arts and humanities subjects, including creative practice disciplines. Northern Bridge students benefit from supervision, training and development of the highest quality, tailored to the needs of 21st-century researchers.

# South, West and Wales Doctoral Training Partnership (SWWDTP)

https://www.sww-ahdtp.ac.uk

Funded by and in partnership with the AHRC, the SWWDTP (SWW1) was originally established in 2014 as a consortium of Aberystwyth, Bath, Bath Spa, Bristol, Cardiff, Exeter, Reading and Southampton. From 2014-15 to 2018-19, the consortium has welcomed five cohorts and a total of 270 students.

SWW2 is consortium of Aberystwyth University, Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales, Bath Spa University, University of Bristol, Cardiff University, Cranfield University, University of Exeter, University of Reading, University of Southampton, and the University of the West of England funded by the Arts and Humanities Research Council to provide postgraduate studentships and training. SWW2 builds upon the key strengths of, and collaborations established by its predecessor, <a href="SWW1">SWW1</a> (http://www.sww-ahdtp.ac.uk/about-sww1/).

The programme will offer 200 awards across five student cohorts with a proportion of the awards offered being <u>Collaborative Doctoral Awards</u> (http://www.sww-ahdtp.ac.uk/prospective-students/studentship-types/) (CDAs).

# Knowledge Exchange Skills Scholarship (KESS 2)

http://kess2.ac.uk

Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS 2) is a major all-Wales operation supported by <a href="European Social Funds">European Social Funds</a> (ESF) (<a href="http://gov.wales/funding/eu-funds/?lang=en">http://gov.wales/funding/eu-funds/?lang=en</a>) through the Welsh Government. KESS 2 links companies and organisations with academic expertise in the Higher Education sector in Wales to undertake collaborative research projects, working towards a PhD or Research Masters qualification. Research elements are integrated with a higher-level skills training programme, leading to a <a href="https://exac.uk/students/psda-postgraduate-skills-development-award/">Postgraduate-skills-development-award/</a>).

KESS 2 involves all universities in Wales and is led by Bangor University. Following the highly successful KESS project between 2009 and 2014, KESS 2 is now in the second round of funding and will provide 645 scholarships over the course of six years.

While this is a major knowledge exchange initiative, it is important to note that it is not related to the arts and cultural sector. There is almost no focus on the arts and humanities across KESS 2, with the only link to the creative industries provided through their focus on ICT and the digital economy. However, elements of best practice below might be useful in considering how best to shape future knowledge exchange skills and capacity training for arts and culture.

The programme prepares and trains individuals to contribute to research as professionals, promoting higher-level skills amongst the Welsh Government's priority R&D sectors. There is a skills development element embedded in every KESS 2 scholarship and the Postgraduate Skills Development Award (PSDA), supported by an annual skills development budget, has been a very successful aspect of the KESS 2 project as a whole.

Every KESS 2 scholar attends a residential KESS Grad School (http://kess2.ac.uk/psda-postgraduate-skills-development-award/) to work on business- related training and development activities. Through the European Universities Association (EUA) we've established the European Industrial Doctoral School (E.I.D.S.), which means we can work with partner universities across Europe and offer transnational opportunities to our KESS 2 scholars and company partners.

# The White Rose College of the Arts & Humanities (WRoCAH) https://wrocah.ac.uk

WRoCAH is one of eleven Doctoral Training Partnerships (DTPs) and seven Centres for Doctoral Training (CDTs) across the UK, that are supported by large awards from <u>AHRC (http://www.ahrc.ac.uk/Pages/Home.aspx)</u>. It involves the Universities of Sheffield, Leeds and York.

Collaborative Doctoral Awards
(https://wrocah.ac.uk/collaborations/cda/)

Collaborative Doctoral Awards (CDAs) bring academic researchers together with non-academic organisations to do exciting applied research that would not be possible without access to the expertise and facilities that both parties bring.

They offer the opportunity to build long term research relationships across sectors, and give doctoral researchers the chance to gain first-hand experience of the context for applied research outside academia.

Long term relationships bring long-term benefits for both collaborating partners, who gain access to resources and materials, knowledge and expertise to provide social, cultural and economic benefits to wider society.

Knowledge Exchange Projects (KEP) (<u>https://wrocah.ac.uk/funding/current-students-19-23-starters/</u>)

- This funding supports students in taking their research to non-academic audiences from the general public to policy-makers or private businesses. They can make an application for funds to start a conversation about their research with a non-academic audience or pursue the impact potential of your work with the private or public sectors through knowledge exchange or public engagement projects. Doctoral researchers can make applications individually or as part of an organising group.
- Benefiting groups may be as diverse as schools, local history societies, private businesses or a group of relevant opinion-formers or policy-makers.

## **Key Publications**

1995. Leonard-Barton, D. Wellsprings of Knowledge: Building and Sustaining the Sources of Innovation. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

• Abstract: Since firms are knowledge institutions, or well-springs of knowledge, they compete on the basis of creating and using knowledge; managing a firm's knowledge assets is as important as managing its finances. A firm's expertise is acquired by employees and embodied in machines, software, and institutional procedures. Management of its core or strategic capabilities determines a firm's competitiveness and survival. Through decision-making and action, core technological capabilities can be built and changed.

2006. Haythornthwaite, C. 'Learning and knowledge networks in interdisciplinary collaborations'. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (https://asistdl.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/15322890)*, 57 (8): 1079-1092.

• Abstract: Interdisciplinary collaboration has become of particular interest as science and social science research increasingly crosses traditional boundaries, raising issues about what kinds of information and knowledge exchange occurs, and thus what to support. Research on interdisciplinarity, learning, and knowledge management suggest the benefits of collaboration are achieved when individuals pool knowledge toward a common goal. Yet, it is not sufficient to say that knowledge exchange must take place; instead, we need to ask what kinds of exchanges form the basis of collaboration in these groups. To explore this,

members of three distributed, interdisciplinary teams (one science and two social science teams) were asked what they learned from the five to eight others with whom they worked most closely, and what they thought those others learned from them. Results show the exchange of factual knowledge to be only one of a number of learning exchanges that support the team. Important exchanges also include learning the process of doing something, learning about methods, engaging jointly in research, learning about technology, generating new ideas, socialization into the profession, accessing a network of contacts, and administration work. Distributions of these relations show that there is more sharing of similar than different kinds of knowledge, suggesting that knowledge may flow across disciplinary boundaries along lines of practice.

2010. Borrell-Damian, L., Brown, T., Dearing, A., Font, J., Hagen, S., Metcalfe, J. and Smith, J. 'Collaborative Doctoral Education: University-Industry Partnerships for Enhancing Knowledge Exchange'. *Higher Education Policy*, 23: 493-514.

2010. Walsh, E., Seldon, P.M., Hargreaves, C.E., Alpay, E. and Morley, B.J. 'Evaluation of a programme of transferable skills development within the PhD: views of late-stage students'. *International Journal for Researcher Development*, 1 (3): 223-247.

• Abstract: Recent years have seen an increasing emphasis placed upon the development of transferable skills within PhD degree programmes. This paper reports on steps taken to evaluate a programme of transferable skills development at a research-intensive university in the UK, focussing on the views of late stage PhD students in the science, engineering and medical disciplines. It shows that most students report a positive impact from having taken part in transferable skills initiatives and that they have a positive attitude towards them. Participants report an enduring positive impact on their behaviour and consider that the training meets their perceived needs as they progress as researchers. However, amongst the population as a whole, there were differences in views. For example, it was found that females, overseas students and those mainly motivated to do the PhD by career-related reasons attach the greatest importance to such opportunities to develop transferable skills.

2013. Lightowler, C. and Knight, C. 'Sustaining knowledge exchange and research impact in the social sciences and humanities: investing in knowledge broker roles in UK universities'. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9 (3): 317-334.

Abstract: Over the last decade, higher education policy in the United Kingdom
(UK) has increasingly focused on the impact of academic research. This has
resulted in the emergence of specialist knowledge brokers within UK universities

in the social sciences and humanities. Our empirical research identified a tension between the research impact agenda and the value placed on knowledge brokerage. Based on interviews with knowledge brokers at the University of Edinburgh, we argue that funding models, short-term contracts, and posts combining knowledge brokerage with other functions result in a transient population and a squeeze on knowledge brokerage, which may limit its effectiveness in achieving research impact.

2014. De Grande, H., De Boyser, K., Vandevelde, K. and Van Rossem, R. 'From Academia to Industry: Are Doctorate Holders Ready?' *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 5: 538-561.

 Abstract: In policy debates related to innovation potential, the limited mobility from academia to industry is often explained by the supposed mismatch of skills needed in these different settings. We contribute to this debate by (1) examining the attitudes of Flemish doctoral candidates towards careers in industry, and (2) by analysing the extent to which doctoral candidates and employers in industry in Flanders differ in their views on the skills needed to perform well in this sector. We combined survey data with qualitative research. The Survey of Junior Researchers (SJR) provides information on the doctoral candidates' perspective on these matters, whereas the Research & Development survey of Flemish companies reflects the employers' views. Additional data obtained through interviews with both doctorate holders and employers provide a more in-depth understanding of the transition from academia to industry. A mismatch between what doctoral candidates consider important skills for a job in industry and what employers expect from researchers is observed. The importance of technical skills and more transferable competencies such as project management and business skills are underestimated by doctoral candidates. The findings raise questions on the awareness among doctoral candidates of the skills needed for a career outside academia. Addressing possible negative attitudes and providing adequate training and career planning could improve their preparation for work in non-academic settings. This is the first study in Flanders comparing researchers' and employers' views on skills, confirming findings in other countries that institutional programmes have a role to play in bridging the gap between employers' expectations and those of doctoral candidates.

2014. Kitagawa, F. 'Collaborative Doctoral Programmes: Employer Engagement, Knowledge Mediation and Skills for Innovation'. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 68 (3): 328-347.

• <u>Abstract</u>: This paper investigates forms of collaborative doctoral programmes that enable employer engagement in innovation and skills development.

Collaborative doctoral programmes exist in different national contexts for the development of the science and technology human capital. Such programmes are also seen as policy tools that enhance relationships between academia and industry. Illustrative cases of collaborative doctoral programmes in the United Kingdom highlight the co-existence and co-evolution of several models of collaborative doctoral programmes. Collaborative doctoral programmes, both centre format and non-centre format, provide an institutional space where doctoral students as social actors can build their professional identities as the nascent bridging scientists. For the university, both internal and external management and governance of such hybrid space for knowledge production and mediation is of critical importance for the long-term impact.

2017. Dalton, B., Simmons, T. and Triggs, T. 'Knowledge Exchange through the Design PhD'. In Vaughan, L. (ed), *Practice-Based Design Research*, pp. 65-76. London: Bloomsbury Publishing Ltd.

2018. Roberts, A. 'Industry and PhD engagement programs: inspiring collaboration and driving knowledge exchange'. *Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education*, 22 (4): 115-123.

• Abstract: Universities are breaking away from the academic apprenticeship-type PhD model towards more individualised and collaborative programmes. Papers published in peer-reviewed academic journals on this topic were compiled to investigate the conversation surrounding PhD reform. Important considerations derived from the literature were that PhD programmes should encourage candidates to rethink their professional identity, acquire an interdependent suite of skills from a range of contexts and set goals in multiple working environments. Continued commitment to programmes that recognise the converging similarities and interdependencies between research and industry was supported, but with a flexible approach in order to maintain the uniqueness of the PhD as a process where academic identity is formed, and academic rigour is respected as an important outcome. Best practice might be aimed at offering work placements in multiple environments to keep professional identities current. Areas for further exploration include perceived challenges, benefits and concerns when engaging in collaborative programmes.

# Appendix III: Bibliography

## Knowledge Exchange in the Arts and Cultural Sector

ACE (2021) Let's Create: Arts Council England Strategy 2020-2030. London: Arts Council England. Available from:

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Strategy%202020\_2030%20Arts%20Council%20England.pdf.

ACE (2021) Setting the Context: Let's Create Delivery Plan 2021-2024. London: Arts Council England. Available from:

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/file/16894/download?token=BEYHcGhB.

AHRC (2019) *AHRC Delivery Plan 2019*. Swindon: Arts and Humanities Research Council. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/strategy/ahrc-delivery-plan-2019/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/strategy/ahrc-delivery-plan-2019/</a>.

AHRC (2011a) AHRC Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy: Call for Expressions of Interest. Swindon: Arts and Humanities Research Council.

AHRC (2011b) AHRC Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy: FAQs. Swindon: AHRC.

AHRC and Holden, J. (2017) Creative Exchanges: The AHRC Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy Report. Swindon: AHRC. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/creative-exchanges-ke-hubs/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/creative-exchanges-ke-hubs/</a>.

Anderson, D. and Pering, D. (2020) *A Manifesto for Museum and Learning and Engagement*. London: Museums Association. Available from: <a href="https://ma-production.ams3.digitaloceanspaces.com/app/uploads/2020/12/15104444/learning-and-engagement-manifesto-english.pdf">https://ma-production.ams3.digitaloceanspaces.com/app/uploads/2020/12/15104444/learning-and-engagement-manifesto-english.pdf</a>.

Bachmann, G., Dovey, J., Monaco, J., Sharpe, B., Reddington, C., Alexander, V. and Penny, D. (2012) *Cultural Value Networks – Research Findings*. Bristol: Digital Cultures Research Centre, University of the West of England. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/reader/323896337.

Bagwell, S., Bull, D., Joy, I. and Svistak, M. (2014) *Opportunities for Alignment: Arts and Cultural Organisations and Public Sector Commissioning*. London: Arts Council England (ACE). Available from:

http://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultural-commissioning/full-report-opp-for-alignment-arts-cultural-orgs-public-sector.pdf.

Banks, M. and Oakley, K. (2016) 'The dance goes on forever? Art schools, class and UK higher education'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 41-57.

Boiling, S. and Thurman, C. (2018) *Mapping and Analysis of Engagement Approaches* across the Creative People and Places Programme. London: Arts Council England. Available from:

https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Mapping\_and\_analysis\_of\_engagement\_approaches.pdf.

BOP Consulting with the Museum Consultancy (2016a) *Character Matters: Attitudes, Behaviours and Skills in the UK Museum Workforce*. Full Report commissioned by Arts Council England, Museums Galleries Scotland, Museums Association and Association of Independent Museums. Available from:

(https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Character\_Matters\_UK\_Museum\_Workforce\_full\_report.pdf)
https://www.museumsgalleriesscotland.org.uk/media/1242/character-matters-full-report.pdf.

BOP Consulting with the Museum Consultancy (2016b) Character Matters: Attitudes, Behaviours and Skills in the UK Museum Workforce. Summary Report commissioned by Arts Council England, Museums Galleries Scotland, Museums Association and Association of Independent Museums. Available from: (https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Character\_Matters\_UK\_Museum\_Workforce\_exec\_sum.pdf) https://www.museumsgalleriesscotland.org.uk/media/1243/character-matters-executive-summary.pdf.

Bridgstock, R. and Cunningham, S. (2016) 'Creative labour and graduate outcomes: implications for higher education and cultural policy'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 10-26...

Bullen, E., Robb, S. and Kenway, J. (2004) 'Creative destruction': knowledge economy policy and the future of the arts and humanities in the academy'. *Journal of Education Policy*, 19 (1): 3-22.

Channer, J., Owens, P. and Lee, C. (2013) Connecting and Growing Businesses through Engagement with Higher Education Institutions. Swindon: AHRC/Creative England. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connecting-and-growing-creative-businesses-through-engagement-with-higher-education-institutions-final-report-february-2013/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connecting-and-growing-creative-businesses-through-engagement-with-higher-education-institutions-final-report-february-2013/</a>.

Chapain, C., De Propris, L., Cooke, P., MacNeill, S. and Mateos-Garcia, J. (2010) *Creative Clusters and Innovation: Putting Creativity on the Map.* London: NESTA. Available from: <a href="https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/creative\_clusters\_and\_innovation.pdf">https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/creative\_clusters\_and\_innovation.pdf</a>.

Comunian, R. (2016) 'Temporary Clusters and Communities of Practice in the Creative Economy: Festivals as Temporary Knowledge Networks in: Space and Culture'. *Space and Culture*, 20 (3): 329-343.

Comunian R., Alexiou, K. and Chapain, C. (2012) The Role of Complexity in the Creative Economy: Connecting People, Ideas and Practices. Report presented to the AHRC Connected Communities Programme. Swindon: AHRC. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connected-communities/the-role-of-complexity-in-the-creative-economies/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/project-reports-and-reviews/connected-communities/the-role-of-complexity-in-the-creative-economies/</a>.

Cranshaw, J., Rowe, F. and Hudson, M. (2015) 'Translations in practice: The multiple roles of the researcher in arts-based knowledge exchange'. *Journal of Arts and Communities*, 7 (1-2): 101-115.

Creative Exchange (2015) AHRC Knowledge Exchange Hubs for the Creative Economy: Final Report. Lancaster: Lancaster University. Available from: <a href="http://thecreativeexchange.org/reports/CX\_Final\_Report.pdf">http://thecreativeexchange.org/reports/CX\_Final\_Report.pdf</a>.

Crossick, G. (2006) Knowledge transfer without widgets: the challenge of the creative economy. Goldsmiths: Royal Society of Arts in Leeds. Available from: <a href="https://theplayethic.typepad.com/files/crossick\_knowledge-transfer-without-widgets.pdf">https://theplayethic.typepad.com/files/crossick\_knowledge-transfer-without-widgets.pdf</a>.

Culture Forum North (2020) *How to... broker a successful academic research partnership*. Leeds: Centre for Cultural Value, University of Leeds. Available from: <a href="https://www.culturehive.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/How-to...Culture-Forum-North.pdf">https://www.culturehive.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/How-to...Culture-Forum-North.pdf</a>.

DCMS, BERR and DIUS (2008) *Creative Britain: New talent for a new economy*. London: HMSO. Available from: <a href="https://static.a-n.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Creative-Britain-new-talents-for-the-new-economy.pdf">https://static.a-n.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Creative-Britain-new-talents-for-the-new-economy.pdf</a>.

Docherty, D. (2010) The Fuse: Igniting High Growth for Creative, Digital and Information Technology Industries. London: Council for Industry and Higher Education (CIHE). Available from:

https://www.ncub.co.uk/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&alias=52-the-fuse-igniting-high-growth-for-creative-digital-and-information-technology-industries-in-the-uk&category\_slug=publications&Itemid=2728

Döring, T. and Schnellenbach, J. (2006) 'What do we know about geographical knowledge spillovers and regional growth? A survey of the literature'. *Regional Studies*, 40 (3): 375-395.

Dovey J., Moreton, S., Sparke S. and Sharpe, B. (2016) 'The Practice of Cultural Ecology: Network Connectivity in the Creative Economy'. *Cultural Trends*, 25 (2): 87-103.

Dovey, J., Moreton, S., Sparke, S. and Sharpe, B. (2014) *Curating Connectivity. REACT Working Paper 3*. Bristol: REACT. Available from: <a href="http://www.react-hub.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/WORKING%20PAPER%203%20Curating%20Connectivity.pdf">http://www.react-hub.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/WORKING%20PAPER%203%20Curating%20Connectivity.pdf</a>.

Etzkowitz, H. and Leydesdorff, L. (2000) 'The dynamics of innovation: from national systems and "mode 2" to a triple helix of university–industry–government relations'. *Research Policy*, 29 (2): 109-123.

Flaxton, T. (2013) 'Knowledge Exchange as Practice'. *Journal of Media Practice*, 3: 211-229.

Follett, G. and Marra, M. (2012) 'Design in Action – Building a Model for Knowledge Exchange between Industry and Academia, Using Design as a Strategy for Business Growth in Scotland'. In Bohemia, E., Liedtka, J., and Rieple, A. (eds.), *Leading Innovation through Design: Proceedings of the DMI 2012 International Research Conference*, 141-150. Boston: Design Management Institute.

Follett, G., Marra, M., Valentine, G., Jack, L., McNicoll, B., Day, A., Morenikeji, J., Maxwell, D., Mackenzie, J. and Prior, S. (2016) *Design in Action: A New Economy of Knowledge Exchange*. Dundee: Design in Action, funded by AHRC. Available from: <a href="http://radar.gsa.ac.uk/6713/1/DiA-Final-Report.pdf">http://radar.gsa.ac.uk/6713/1/DiA-Final-Report.pdf</a>.

Gardner, H., Leeding, J., Stanley, E., Ball, S., Leach, B., Bausfield, J., Smith, P. and Marjanovic, S. (2021) *Arts-based engagement with research: a guide for community groups, practitioners and researchers*. Cambridge: THIS Institute, University of Cambridge. Available from: <a href="https://mk0thisinstitut0r1om.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/THIS-Institute-Arts-based-engagement-with-research.pdf">https://mk0thisinstitut0r1om.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/THIS-Institute-Arts-based-engagement-with-research.pdf</a>.

Gilmore, A. and Comunian, R. (2016) 'Beyond the campus: higher education, cultural policy and the creative economy'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 1-9.

Gorton, C. (2016) Building Digital Leadership and Resilience in the UK's Cultural Sector: What qualities of leadership are needed to ensure the resilience of cultural organisations in the digital age? London: Clore Leadership Programme. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/ceri\_gorton\_-digital\_leadership\_report.pdf">https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/ceri\_gorton\_-digital\_leadership\_report.pdf</a>.

Groth, C., Pevere, M., Niinimäki, K. and Kääriäinen, P. (2020) 'Conditions for experiential knowledge exchange in collaborative research across the sciences and creative practice'. *CoDesign: International Journal of CoCreation in Design and the Arts*, 16 (4): 328-344.

Gupta, S. and Gupta, A. (2019) "Resilience" as a policy keyword: Arts Council England and austerity'. *Policy Studies* (early access). Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2019.1645325">https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2019.1645325</a>.

 $He smondhalgh, .\,D.\,.\,and\,.\,Baker, .\,S.\,.\,(2011)\,\textit{Creative}\,.\,\textit{Labour:}\,.\,\textit{Media}\,.\,\textit{Work}\,.\,\textit{in}\,.\,\textit{Three}\,.\,\textit{Cultural Industries}\,.\,London;\,Routledge.$ 

Hess, M., Colson, A. and Hindmarch, J. (2018) 'Capacity Building and Knowledge Exchange of Digital Technologies in Cultural Heritage Institutions'. *Museum International*, 70 (1-2) (Special Issue: Museums in a Digital World): 48-61.

Hewison, R. and Holden, J. (2002) 'An Investment in the Rising Generation of Cultural Leaders is Necessary, and Timely'. Task Force Final Report. London: The Clore Leadership Programme. Available from:

https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/task\_force\_final\_report\_full.pdf.

Leighton, S. and Mitchell, P. (2018) *The Exchange: Revealing Collaborative Values*. London: The Cultural Capital Exchange. Available from:

https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Revealing-Collaborative-Values.pdf.

Moreton, S. (2016) 'Rethinking 'knowledge exchange': new approaches to collaborative work in the arts and humanities'. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 100-115.

Murdock, A., Razia, S. and Wilding, K. (2013) 'Knowledge exchange between academia and the third sector'. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9 (3): 419-430.

Parkinson, A. and Wilkie, S. (2016) *Evaluation of the Cultural Commissioning Programme: Final Report*. Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Consilium Research and Consultancy for NPVO. Available from:

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/practical\_support/public\_services/cultural-commissioning-programme-evaluation-may-2016.pdf.

Robson, J., Holgate, B. and Randhawa, A. (2021) Storycraft: The Importance of Narrative and Narrative Skills in Business. Swindon: Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC). Available from: <a href="https://skope.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Storycraft-Full-Report.pdf">https://skope.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Storycraft-Full-Report.pdf</a>.

TBR (2014) Scoping the Leadership Development Needs of the Cultural Sector in England. London: TBR, Clore Leadership Programme, and ACE. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf">https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf</a>.

Ternouth, P., Garner, C., Wood, L. and Forbes, P. (2012) *Key Attributes for Successful Knowledge Transfer Partnerships*. London: Council for Industry and Higher Education (CIHE). Available from:

https://www.ncub.co.uk/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&alias=35-key-attributes-for-successful-knowledge-transfer-partnerships&category\_slug=publications&Itemid=2728.

Voices of Culture (2017) Brainstorming Report: Towards an Integrated Approach to Cultural Heritage for Europe - Prospectus on 'Skills, Training and Knowledge Transfer For Traditional and Emerging Heritage Professions'. European Commission. Available from: <a href="https://www.voicesofculture.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/VoC-Skills-and-training-Final-report-with-Appendix1.pdf">https://www.voicesofculture.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/VoC-Skills-and-training-Final-report-with-Appendix1.pdf</a>.

Warwick Commission (2015) Enriching Britain: Culture, Creativity and Growth: The 2015 Report of the Warwick Commission on the Future of Cultural Value. Warwick: The University of Warwick. Available from:

https://warwick.ac.uk/research/warwickcommission/futureculture/finalreport/warwickcommission\_report\_2015.pdf.

Weinstein, L. and Bukovinsky, D. (2009) 'Use of the Balanced Scorecard and Performance Metrics to Achieve Operational and Strategic Alignment in Arts and Culture Not-for-Profits'. *International Journal of Arts Management*, 11 (2): 42-55.

Williams, A., Dovey, J., Cronin, B., Garside, P., Flintham, M., Smith, M., Barrett, D., Brooks, R., Boddington, A. and Taylor, F. (2017) *The Hidden Story: Understanding Knowledge Exchange Partnerships in the Creative Economy*. London: Kingston University in partnership with University Alliance, UWE Bristol, and Greenwich, Coventry and Sheffield Hallam Universities (funded by AHRC). Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/THE-HIDDEN\_STORY-REPORT\_final\_web.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/THE-HIDDEN\_STORY-REPORT\_final\_web.pdf</a>.

Williams, A., Dovey, J., Cronin, B., Garside, P., Flintham, M., Smith, M., Barrett, D., Brooks, R., Boddington, A. and Taylor, F. (2017) *The Hidden Story: Universities and the Creative Economy: Using Data to Support Leadership in Knowledge Exchange.* London: Kingston University in partnership with University Alliance, UWE Bristol, and Greenwich, Coventry and Sheffield Hallam Universities (funded by AHRC). Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/The-Hidden-Story-Using-data-Briefing-FINAL.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/The-Hidden-Story-Using-data-Briefing-FINAL.pdf</a>.

Wilson, E. and Lasebikan, R. (2017) Developing Effective Research Collaborations: A Mini-Guide by Creativeworks and TCCE. London: Creativeworks and The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE). Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Developing-Effective-Research-Collaborations\_LR\_spreads.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Developing-Effective-Research-Collaborations\_LR\_spreads.pdf</a>.

Wilson, E. and Mitchell, P., eds. (2019) Reflections on Resilience and Creative Leadership: Boosting Resilience - Survival Skills for the New Normal. London: Boosting Resilience. Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Reflections-on-Resilience-and-Creative-Leadership.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Reflections-on-Resilience-and-Creative-Leadership.pdf</a>.

## HE Skills Capacity in Knowledge Exchange

Abreu, M., Grinevich, V., Hughes, A. and Kitson, M. (2009) *Knowledge Exchange between Academics and the Business, Public and Third Sectors*. Cambridge: UK Innovation Research Centre. Available from:

https://www.cbr.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user\_upload/centre-for-business-research/downloads/special-reports/specialreport-knowledgeexchangeacademics.pdf.

Abreu, M., Grinevich, V., Hughes, A., Kitson, M. and Ternouth, P. (2008) *Universities, Business and Knowledge Exchange*. Cambridge: Council for Industry and Higher Education, and Centre for Business Research. Available from: <a href="https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/357118/1/Universities%252C%2520Business%2520and%2520Knowledge%2520Exchange%2520Report.pdf">https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/357118/1/Universities%252C%2520Business%2520and%2520Knowledge%2520Exchange%2520Report.pdf</a>.

ACE (2019) Response to Research England's Knowledge Exchange Framework (KEF)
Consultation. London: Arts Council England. Available here:
<a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Arts%20Council%20England%20response%20to%20Knowledge%20Exchange%20Frameworks.pdf">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Arts%20Council%20England%20response%20to%20Knowledge%20Exchange%20Frameworks.pdf</a>...

ACE (2020) Response to the Knowledge Exchange Concordat. London: Arts Council England. Available here: <a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Arts%20Council%20England%20response%20to%20the%20Knowledge%20Exchange%20Concordat\_0.pdf">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Arts%20Council%20England%20response%20to%20the%20Knowledge%20Exchange%20Concordat\_0.pdf</a>.

ACE (2016) Partnership between higher education and the cultural sector to launch in Leeds on 24 May. London: Arts Council England. Available from: <a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/partnership-between-higher-education-and-cultural-sector-launch-leeds-24-may-0">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/partnership-between-higher-education-and-cultural-sector-launch-leeds-24-may-0</a>.

Acosta, M., Azagra-Caro, J.M. and Coronado, D. (2016) 'Access to universities' public knowledge: who is more regionalist?' *Regional Studies*, 50 (3): 446-459.

Arbo, P. and P. Benneworth (2007) 'Understanding the Regional Contribution of Higher Education Institutions: A Literature Review', *OECD Education Working Papers*, No. 9. Paris: OECD Publishing.

Atton, C., McCleery, A., Mabweazara, H. and Ward, S. (2008) *Creative Futures: Building the Creative Economy through Universities*. London: Million+. Available from: <a href="https://core.ac.uk/reader/74032265">https://core.ac.uk/reader/74032265</a>.

Bekkers, R. and Bodas de Araújo Freitas, I.M. (2008) 'Analysing Knowledge Transfer Channels between Universities and Industry: To What Degree Do Sectors Also Matter?' *Research Policy*, 37: 1837-1853.

Boaz, A., Oliver, K., Cuccato, G. and Dashwood, C. (2021) Rebuilding a Resilient Britain: Data and Evaluation Areas of Research Interest across Government. London: Government Office for Science/ARI. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/964763/Evidence\_gaps\_and\_next\_steps\_Rebuilding\_a\_Resilient\_Britain.pdf.

Borrell-Damian, L., Brown, T., Dearing, A., Font, J., Hagen, S., Metcalfe, J. and Smith, J. (2010) 'Collaborative Doctoral Education: University-Industry Partnerships for Enhancing Knowledge Exchange'. *Higher Education Policy*, 23: 493-514.

British Academy (2021) *Knowledge Exchange in the SHAPE Subjects*. London: British Academy. Available from:

https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/documents/3359/Knowledge-Exchange-in-the-SHAPE-subjects.pdf.

Bruce, I. (2020) GCVS and the Third Sector Knowledge Exchange Collaborative: a valuable response to our challenges. Glasgow: Policy Scotland. Available from: <a href="https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/gcvs-and-the-third-sector-knowledge-exchange-collaborative">https://policyscotland.gla.ac.uk/gcvs-and-the-third-sector-knowledge-exchange-collaborative</a>.

Bullock, A. and Hughes, R. (2016) Knowledge Exchange and the Social Sciences: A Report to ESRC from the Centre for Business Research. Cambridge: Centre for Business Research, University of Cambridge. Available from: https://esrc.ukri.org/files/collaboration/knowledge-exchange-and-the-social-sciences/

CC Skills (n.d) *A Best Practice Guide to Apprenticeships, Internships and Volunteering*. Purfleet: Creative and Cultural Skills. Available from: <a href="https://ccs.rooftop.io/sites/413/2020/01/22115401/ACE\_Best\_Practice\_Guide\_Aug\_20193.pdf">https://ccs.rooftop.io/sites/413/2020/01/22115401/ACE\_Best\_Practice\_Guide\_Aug\_20193.pdf</a>.

CC Skills (2015) Building a Creative Nation: The Next Decade. What the current literature tells us about the future skills needs of the creative and cultural industries. Purfleet: Creative and Cultural Skills. Available from: <a href="https://ccs.rooftop.io/sites/413/2020/03/26163300/CCS\_BUILDINGACREATIVENA">https://ccs.rooftop.io/sites/413/2020/03/26163300/CCS\_BUILDINGACREATIVENA</a> TION\_WEB\_SINGLES7.pdf.

Coates Ulrichsen, T. (2021) Innovating During a Crisis: The Effects of the Covid-19
Pandemic on How Universities Contribute to Innovation. Cambridge: UCI Policy
Institute, University of Cambridge. Available from:
<a href="https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/UCI/knowledgehub/documents/2021\_UCI\_C">https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/UCI/knowledgehub/documents/2021\_UCI\_C</a>
ovid\_Universities\_Report2.pdf.

Comunian, R., Faggian, A. and Jewell, S. (2014) 'Embedding Arts and Humanities in the Creative Economy: The Role of Graduates in UK'. *Environment and Planning C*: Government and Policy, 32 (3): 426-450. Available from: <a href="http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/epc\_revision.pdf">http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/epc\_revision.pdf</a>.

Comunian, R. and Gilmore, A. (2014) 'From knowledge sharing to co-creation: Paths and spaces for engagement between higher education and the creative and cultural industries'. In Schramme, A., Kooyman, R. and Hagoort, G. (eds), *Beyond Frames:*Dynamics between the Creative Industries, Knowledge Institutions and the Urban Context, 174-185. Delft: Eburon Academic Press.

Comunian, R. and Gilmore, A. (2015) Beyond the Creative Campus: Reflections on the Evolving Relationship between Higher Education and the Creative Economy. London: King's College London. Available from:

https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/files/38977024/Beyond\_the\_Creative\_Campus\_Comunian\_Gilmore\_2015.pdf.

Comunian, R. and Gilmore, A. (2016) *Higher Education and the Creative Economy:* Beyond the Campus. Abingdon: Routledge.

Comunian R., Smith, D. and Taylor, C. (2014) 'The Role of Universities in the Regional Creative Economies of the UK: Hidden Protagonists and the Challenge of Knowledge Transfer'. *European Planning Studies*, 22 (12): 2456-2476.

Cross, E. and Pickering, H. (2008) 'The Contribution of Higher Education to Regional Cultural Development in the North East of England'. *Higher Education Management and Policy*, 20 (2): 125-137.

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2006) Developing Entrepreneurship for the Creative Industries, the Role of Higher and Further Education. London: DCMS. Available from: <a href="https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/7624/2/dcms\_enterprise\_and\_he.pdf">https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/7624/2/dcms\_enterprise\_and\_he.pdf</a>.

Dalton, B., Simmons, T. and Triggs, T. (2017) 'Knowledge Exchange through the Design PhD'. In Vaughan, L. (ed), *Practice-Based Design Research*, pp. 65-76. London: Bloomsbury Publishing Ltd.

Dawson, J. and Gilmore, A. (2009) Shared Interest: Developing Collaboration, Partnerships and Research Relationships between Higher Education, Museums, Galleries and Visual Arts Organisations in the North West. A Joint Consultancy Research Project. Manchester: Renaissance North West Arts Council England North West and the North West Universities Association. Available from: <a href="http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/shared\_interest\_report\_2009.pdf">http://www.creative-campus.org.uk/uploads/1/0/9/7/10973203/shared\_interest\_report\_2009.pdf</a>.

De Grande, H., De Boyser, K., Vandevelde, K. and Van Rossem, R. (2014) 'From Academia to Industry: Are Doctorate Holders Ready?' *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 5: 538-561.

De La Torre, E.M., Rossi, F. and Sagarra, M. (2018) 'Who benefits from HEIs engagement? An analysis of priority stakeholders and activity profiles of HEIs in the United Kingdom'. *Studies in Higher Education*, 40 (10): 2163-2182.

Eggington, E. and Osborne, R. (2020) *Interim Review of the Connecting Capability Fund Programme*. Bristol and London: Research England. Available from: <a href="https://re.ukri.org/documents/2020/interim-review-of-ccf-report/">https://re.ukri.org/documents/2020/interim-review-of-ccf-report/</a>.

Eggington, E., Osborn, R. and Walker, E. (2020) *Update to Interim Review of the Connecting Capability Fund Programme*. Bristol and London: Research England. Available from: https://re.ukri.org/documents/2021/update-to-interim-review-of-ccf/.

ESRC (2021) *Tips for doing knowledge exchange* (website). Available from: <a href="https://esrc.ukri.org/research/impact-toolkit/tips-for-doing-knowledge-exchange/">https://esrc.ukri.org/research/impact-toolkit/tips-for-doing-knowledge-exchange/</a>.

Facer, K. and Enright, B. (2016) Creating Living Knowledge: The Connected Communities Programme, Community-University Relationships and the Participatory Turn in the Production of Knowledge. Bristol: University of Bristol and AHRC Connected Communities Programme. Available from: <a href="https://connected-communities.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Creating-Living-Knowledge.Final\_pdf">https://connected-communities.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Creating-Living-Knowledge.Final\_pdf</a>.

Fazey, I., Bunse, L., Msika, J., Pinke, M., Preedy, K., Evely, A.C., Lambert, E., Hastings, E., Morris, S. and Reed, M.S. (2014) 'Evaluating knowledge exchange in interdisciplinary and multi-stakeholder research'. *Global Environmental Change*, 25: 204-220.

Ferran, B. (2010) 'Towards Ecologies of Learning: Embracing Relations between Arts and Academia' (online). Available from:

https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Towards-ecologies-of-learning-enhancing-relationships-between-arts-and-academia.pdf.

Ferreira, J.J.M. and Carayannis, E.G. (2019) 'University-industry knowledge transferunpacking the "black box": an introduction'. *Knowledge Management Research and Practice*, 17 (4): 353-357.

Fowler Davis, S. (2009) 'Knowledge exchange: capacity building in a small university'. *Education & Training*, 51 (8/9): 682-695.

Florida R., Gates G., Knudsen B. and Stolarick K. (2006) *The University and the Creative Economy* (online). Available from:

 $\frac{http://creative class.com/rfcgdb/articles/University\%20For\%20City\%20and\%20Com}{munity\%204.pdf.}$ 

Gibb, A. (2005) 'Towards the Entrepreneurial University: Entrepreneurship Education and the Lever for Change'. *NGCE Policy Paper 3*. Birmingham: NGCE. Available from: <a href="https://ncee.org.uk/wp-">https://ncee.org.uk/wp-</a>

content/uploads/2018/01/towards\_the\_entrepreneurial\_university.pdf.

Goldspink, N. (2017) How the practice of skills-sharing and knowledge exchange is putting the North at the heart of economic growth (online). Available at: <a href="https://www.n8research.org.uk/practice-skills-sharing-knowledge-exchange-putting-north-heart-economic-growth/">https://www.n8research.org.uk/practice-skills-sharing-knowledge-exchange-putting-north-heart-economic-growth/</a> (accessed 11 June 2021).

Gordon, I. (2016) 'Universities, SMEs and social capital: Can you get too much of a good thing? An illustrative analysis of one university's knowledge exchange programme'. Industry & Higher Education, 30 (6): 382-393.

Harrison, J. and Turok, I. (2017) 'Universities, knowledge and regional development'. *Regional Studies*, 51 (7): 977-981.

HATCH (2020) *Interim Evaluation of the RED UEZ Programme*. Available from: <a href="https://re.ukri.org/documents/2021/interim-evaluation-of-the-red-uez/">https://re.ukri.org/documents/2021/interim-evaluation-of-the-red-uez/</a>.

Haythornthwaite, C. (2006) 'Learning and knowledge networks in interdisciplinary collaborations'. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (https://asistdl.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/15322890)*, 57 (8): 1079-1092.

HEFCE (2016) Higher Education Innovation Funding: Institutional Five-Year Knowledge Exchange Strategies: Policy and Request for Institutional Strategies. Available from: <a href="https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/27128/1/HEFCE2016\_16">https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/27128/1/HEFCE2016\_16</a>..pdf.

 $\label{thm:eq:hermonic} \mbox{HERA (n.d.)} \ \mbox{\it Knowledge Exchange: A Toolkit for HERA Projects (online)}. \ \mbox{\it Humanities in the European Research Area.} \ \mbox{\it Available from:}$ 

https://heranet.info/assets/uploads/2019/09/Toolkits\_13Dec2019.html#knowledgeexchange [Accessed on 22 June 2021].

Hughes, A. (2011) 'Open innovation, the Haldane principle and the new production of knowledge: science policy and university–industry links in the UK after the financial crisis'. *Prometheus: Critical Studies in Innovation*, 29 (4): 411-442. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/08109028.2011.639565.

Hughes, A. and Kitson, M. (2013) Connecting with the Ivory Tower: Business Perspectives on Knowledge Exchange in the UK. Cambridge: UK Research Innovation Centre. Available from:

https://www.ncub.co.uk/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&alias=68-connecting-with-the-ivory-tower&category\_slug=publications&Itemid=2728.

Hughes, A. and Kitson, M. (2012) 'Pathways to impact and the strategic role of universities: new evidence on the breadth and depth of university knowledge exchange in the UK and the factors constraining its development'. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 36 (3): 723-750.

Hughes, A., Kitson, M., Lawson, C., Salter, A., Bullock, A. and Hughes, R. (2017) Cambridge Centre for Business Research National Survey of Knowledge Exchange Activity by United Kingdom Academics, 2012-2015. UK Data Service. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-8303-1.

Hughes, A., Kitson, M. Probert, J., Bullock, A. and Milner, I. (2011) *Hidden Connections: Knowledge Exchange between the Arts and Humanities and the Private, Public and Third Sectors*. Swindon: AHRC/Cambridge: University of Cambridge, Centre for Business Research. Available from: <a href="https://www.cbr.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user\_upload/centre-for-business-research/downloads/special-reports/specialreport-hiddenconnections.pdf">https://www.cbr.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user\_upload/centre-for-business-research/downloads/special-reports/specialreport-hiddenconnections.pdf</a>.

Hughes, A., Lawson, C., Kitson, M. and Salter, A. (2016) *The Changing State of Knowledge Exchange: UKAcademic Interactions with External Organisations 2005-2015*. London:

National Centre for Universities and Business. Available from: <a href="https://michaelkitson.files.wordpress.com/2018/06/ncub\_the\_changing\_state\_of\_knowledge\_exchange\_feb16\_web.pdf">https://michaelkitson.files.wordpress.com/2018/06/ncub\_the\_changing\_state\_of\_knowledge\_exchange\_feb16\_web.pdf</a>.

Hughes, A. and Martin, B. (2012) Enhancing Impact: The Value of Public Sector R&D, NCUB-UKIRC Enhancing Value Task Force. National Centre for Universities and Business and UK Innovation Research Centre, London, UK. Available from: <a href="https://www.ncub.co.uk/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&alias=38-enhancing-impact-the-value-of-public-sector-r-d&category\_slug=publications&Itemid=2728.">https://www.ncub.co.uk/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&alias=38-enhancing-impact-the-value-of-public-sector-r-d&category\_slug=publications&Itemid=2728.</a>

Hughes, A., Moore, B. and Ulrichsen, T. (2011) 'Evaluating innovation policies: a case study of the impact of third stream funding in the English higher education sector'. In: Colombo, M.G., Piscitello, L., Rossi-Lamastra, C. (eds), *Science and Innovation Policy for the New Knowledge Economy, Prime Series on Research and Innovation Policy in Europe*, pp. 79-105. Cheltenham, UK and Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Johnson, M.T. (2020) 'The knowledge exchange framework: understanding parameters and the capacity for transformative engagement'. *Studies in Higher Education* (online).

Kitagawa, F. (2014) 'Collaborative Doctoral Programmes: Employer Engagement, Knowledge Mediation and Skills for Innovation'. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 68 (3): 328-347.

Kitson, M., Howells, J., Braham, R. and Westlake, S., (2009) *The Connected University: Driving Recovery and Growth in the UK Economy*. London: NESTA. Available from: <a href="https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/the\_connected\_university.pdf">https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/the\_connected\_university.pdf</a>.

Lawson, C., Hughes, A., Salter, A., Kitson, M., Bullock, A. and Hughes, R. B. (2016) Knowledge Exchange in UK Universities: Results from a Panel of Academics 2005-2015. London: NCUB. Available from:

https://michaelkitson.files.wordpress.com/2018/06/ncub-knowledge-exchange-in-uk-universities-web.pdf.

Leitch, A. (2006) *Leitch Review of Skills: Final Report*. London: The Stationery Office. Available from: <a href="https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/leitch-review-skills-final-report">https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/leitch-review-skills-final-report</a>.

Leonard-Barton, D. (1995) Wellsprings of Knowledge: Building and Sustaining the Sources of Innovation. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

Lightowler, C. and Knight, C. (2013) 'Sustaining knowledge exchange and research impact in the social sciences and humanities: investing in knowledge broker roles in UK universities'. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9 (3): 317-334.

McKinnie, M. and Pearson, L. (2009) *Developing Digital Priorities: Visual Arts Organisations and Higher Education Collaboration*. London: London Centre for Arts and Cultural Exchange. Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Developing-Digital-Priorities.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Developing-Digital-Priorities.pdf</a>.

McMillan Group (2016) University Knowledge Exchange (KE) Framework: Good Practice in Technology Transfer: Report to the UK Higher Education Sector and HEFCE by the McMillan Group. London: HEFCE. Available from: https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/27123/1/2016\_ketech.pdf.

Mitchell, P., Pirkis, J., Hall, J. and Haas, M. (2009) 'Partnerships for knowledge exchange in health services research, policy and practice'. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 14 (2): 104-111.

Mooney Smith, L. (2012) *Knowledge Transfer in Higher Education: Collaboration in the Arts and Humanities*. Houndmills, Basingstoke and New York: Palgrave McMillan.

Munro, E. (2016) 'Illuminating the practice of knowledge exchange as a 'Pathway to Impact' within an Arts and Humanities Research Council 'Creative Economy Knowledge Exchange' project'. *Geoforum*, 71: 44-51. Available from: <a href="https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/42370228.pdf">https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/42370228.pdf</a>.

Oliver, K., Boaz, A., Cuccato, G. and Dashwood, C. (2021) *Rebuilding a Resilient Britain: Evidence Gaps and Knowledge Exchange Activities*. Working Paper. London:
Government Office for Science. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/964763/Evidence\_gaps\_and\_next\_steps\_Rebuilding\_a\_Resilient\_Britain.pdf.

Owen, D., Featherstone, H. and Leslie, K. (2016) *The State of Play: Public Engagement with Research in UK Universities*. London: Research Councils UK (RCUK) and Wellcome Trust. Available from:

https://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/sites/default/files/publication/state\_of\_play\_fin\_al.pdf.

Pekacar, K. (2018) Independent Mind. Higher Education and Public Libraries: Partnerships Research. Manchester: Arts Council England. Available from: <a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Public%20Libraries%20and%20HE%20report.pdf">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Public%20Libraries%20and%20HE%20report.pdf</a>.

Praxis Auril (2017) The State of the Knowledge Exchange and Commercialisation Profession in 2017. Cambridge: Praxis Auril. Available from: <a href="https://www.praxisauril.org.uk/sites/praxisunico.org.uk/files/The%20State%20of%20">https://www.praxisauril.org.uk/sites/praxisunico.org.uk/files/The%20State%20of%20</a> the%20KEC%20profession%202017.pdf.

Prysor, D. and Henley, A. (2018) 'Boundary spanning in higher education leadership: identifying boundaries and practices in a British university'. *Studies in Higher Education*, 43 (12): 2210-2225.

Ray, D. (2016) 'Campus-Community Partnership: A Stubborn Commitment to Reciprocal Relationships'. *Diversity & Democracy*, 19 (2) (online). Available from: <a href="https://www.aacu.org/diversitydemocracy/2016/spring/ray">https://www.aacu.org/diversitydemocracy/2016/spring/ray</a>.

Roberts, A. (2018) 'Industry and PhD engagement programs: inspiring collaboration and driving knowledge exchange'. *Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education*, 22 (4): 115-123.

Rossi, F., De Silva, M., Baines, N. and Rosli, A. (2020) 'Long-Term Innovation Outcomes of University–Industry Collaborations: The Role of 'Bridging' vs 'Blurring' Boundary-Spanning Practices'. *British Journal of Management*.

Rossi, F. and Rosli, A. (2015) 'Indicators of university-industry knowledge transfer performance and their implications for universities: evidence from the United Kingdom'. *Studies in Higher Education*, 40 (10): 1970-1991.

Rosli, A. and Rossi, F. (2014) 'Explaining the gap between policy aspirations and implementation: the case of university knowledge transfer policy in the United Kingdom.' Working Paper. Birkbeck College, University of London. Available from: <a href="https://eprints.bbk.ac.uk/id/eprint/18445/1/18445.pdf">https://eprints.bbk.ac.uk/id/eprint/18445/1/18445.pdf</a>.

Salinas, L. (2019) *Understanding Knowledge Exchange at University of the Arts London*. London: University of the Arts London. Available from: <a href="https://ualresearchonline.arts.ac.uk/id/eprint/15037/7/salinas2019-understandingKEUALb.pdf">https://ualresearchonline.arts.ac.uk/id/eprint/15037/7/salinas2019-understandingKEUALb.pdf</a>.

Shoba, K. and Leonard, A. (2012) *The Art of Knowledge Exchange: A Results-Focused Planning Guide for Development Practitioners*. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank. Available from:

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/11983/74263.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

SQW (2018) International Collaboration between English Cultural and Higher Education Institutions: A Research Report for Arts Council England. Oxford: SQW. Available from: <a href="https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/HEI\_Cultural%20Orgs\_International%20Collaboration%20FINAL\_0.pdf">https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/HEI\_Cultural%20Orgs\_International%20Collaboration%20FINAL\_0.pdf</a>.

Ulrichsen, T.C. (2021) 'Beyond the Pandemic: What should we do? #3 Put universities at the heart of an innovation-led recovery'. Cambridge: University of Cambridge. Available from: <a href="https://www.cam.ac.uk/stories/BeyondThePandemic\_innovation">https://www.cam.ac.uk/stories/BeyondThePandemic\_innovation</a>.

Ulrichsen, T.C. (2021) Innovation During a Crisis: The Effects of the Covid-19 Pandemic on How Universities Contribute to Innovation. Cambridge: UCI Policy Evidence Unit, University of Cambridge. Available from:

https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/UCI/knowledgehub/documents/2021\_UCI\_C ovid\_Universities\_Report2.pdf.

Ulrichsen, T.C. (2019) Assessing the Impacts of Student-Focused Knowledge Exchange Funding: A Technical Report for the Office for Students. Bristol and London: Office for Students. Available from:

https://www.ifm.eng.cam.ac.uk/uploads/UCI/knowledgehub/documents/2014\_Ulrichsen\_HEIFimpact.pdf.

Ulrichsen, T.C. (2014) Knowledge Exchange Performance and the Impact of HEIF in the English Higher Education Sector. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Tomas-Coates-

<u>Ulrichsen/publication/304247021\_Knowledge\_Exchange\_Performance\_and\_the\_Impact\_of\_HEIF\_in\_the\_English\_Higher\_Education\_Sector/links/576a5c0e08aeb526b69b0823/Knowledge-Exchange-Performance-and-the-Impact-of-HEIF-in-the-English-Higher-Education-Sector.pdf.</u>

Universities UK and GuildHE (2019) Concordat for the Advancement of Knowledge Exchange in Higher Education in England: A Universities UK/GuildHE Consultation with the HE Sector. London: Universities UK and GuildHE. Available from:

https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/policy-and-analysis/reports/Documents/2019/knowledge-exchange-concordat-consultation.pdf.

Universities UK (2010) Creating Prosperity: The Role of Higher Education in Driving the UK's Creative Economy. London: Universities UK. Available from: <a href="https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/policy-and-analysis/reports/Documents/2010/creating-prosperity-the-role-of-higher-education.pdf">https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/policy-and-analysis/reports/Documents/2010/creating-prosperity-the-role-of-higher-education.pdf</a>.

University Alliance (2016) *Making Places: Universities, the arts and creative industries*. London: University Alliance. Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/UA-Making-Places-WEB-FINAL.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/UA-Making-Places-WEB-FINAL.pdf</a>.

University Alliance (2016) A clearer picture: A guide for arts and cultural organisations engaging with universities. London: University Alliance. Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/ACE-UA-A-Clearer-Picture-WEB.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/ACE-UA-A-Clearer-Picture-WEB.pdf</a>.

Upton, S. (2012) 'Identifying Effective Drivers for Knowledge Exchange in the United Kingdom'. *Higher Education Management and Policy*, 24 (1): 105-123.

Van Karnenbeek, L., Janssen-Jansen, L. and Peel, D. (2020) 'Conceptualising Co-creative Planning Pedagogies: The Community Knowledge Triangle'. *Planning Practice & Research* (online only)

Walsh, E., Seldon, P.M., Hargreaves, C.E., Alpay, E. and Morley, B.J. (2010) 'Evaluation of a programme of transferable skills development within the PhD: views of late-stage students'. *International Journal for Researcher Development*, 1 (3): 223-247.

Ward, V., Smith, S., House, A., and Hamer, S. (2012) 'Exploring knowledge exchange: A useful framework for practice and policy'. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74 (3): 297-304.

Welsh, R., Glenna, L., Lacy, W., and Biscotti, D. (2008) 'Close Enough but Not Too Far: Assessing the Effects of University-Industry Research Relationships and the Rise of Academic Capitalism'. *Research Policy*, 37: 1854-1864.

Williams, A., Dovey, J., Cronin, B., Garside, P., Flintham, M., Smith, M., Barrett, D., Brooks, R., Boddington, A., and Taylor, F. (2017) *The Hidden Story: Briefing for Regional and University Leaders*. London: Kingston University in partnership with University Alliance, UWE Bristol, and Greenwich, Coventry and Sheffield Hallam Universities

(funded by AHRC). Available from: <a href="https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/The-Hidden-Story-Regional-Briefing-FINAL.pdf">https://www.unialliance.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/The-Hidden-Story-Regional-Briefing-FINAL.pdf</a>.

Wilson, E. and Lasebikan, R. (2017) *Developing Effective Research Collaborations*. London: Creative Works and TCCE. Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Developing-Effective-Research-Collaborations\_LR\_spreads.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Developing-Effective-Research-Collaborations\_LR\_spreads.pdf</a>.

Wilson, E. and Mitchell, P., eds. (2016) *Then:Now. Reflections on a Decade of Collaboration between Academia and the Creative and Cultural Sectors in London*. London: The Culture Capital Exchange. Available from: <a href="https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Then-Now-Reflections-on-a-decade-of-collaboration-between-academia.pdf">https://www.theculturecapitalexchange.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Then-Now-Reflections-on-a-decade-of-collaboration-between-academia.pdf</a>.

Zhang, Q. (2018) 'Theory, practice and policy: A longitudinal study of university knowledge exchange in the UK'. *Industry & Higher Education*, 32 (2): 80-92.

Zhang, Q., Larkin, C., and Lucey, B. (2017) 'Universities, knowledge exchange and policy: A comparative study of Ireland and the UK'. *Science & Public Policy*, 44 (2): 174-185.

Zhang, Q., MacKenzie, N.G., Jones-Evans, D. and Huggins, R. (2016) 'Leveraging knowledge as a competitive asset? The intensity, performance and structure of universities' entrepreneurial knowledge exchange activities at a regional level'. *Small Business Economics*, 47: 657-675.

## Creative Skills, Co-Design and Collaboration

Bowes, L., Higton, J., Spong, S., Welford, J., Choudhoury, A. and Francis, N. (2018) *Skills Needs Assessment for the Creative and Cultural Sector: A Current and Future Outlook. Birmingham: Creative Alliance*. Available from: <a href="https://creativealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Report-Skills-Needs-Assessment-For-The-Creative-And-Cultural-Sector-CCSkills.pdf">https://creativealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Report-Skills-Needs-Assessment-For-The-Creative-And-Cultural-Sector-CCSkills.pdf</a>.

Chick, A. (2013) 'The Role of Design-Led Knowledge Exchange in Supporting Micro-, Small, and Medium-Sized Enterprises to be Eco-Innovators in the United Kingdom'. In Walker, H, Giard, J. and Walker, S. (eds), *The Handbook for Design in Sustainability*. London and New York: Bloomsbury Academic.

Economist Intelligence Unit (2007) *Collaboration: Transforming the way business works* London: Economist Intelligence Unit. Available from: <a href="http://graphics.eiu.com/upload/CiscoCollab\_1a.pdf">http://graphics.eiu.com/upload/CiscoCollab\_1a.pdf</a>.

Follet, G. and Rogers, J. (2015) *Articulating Co-Creation for Economic and Cultural Value*. Swindon: Arts and Humanities Research Council. Available from: <a href="https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/publications/co-creation-report-2015/">https://ahrc.ukri.org/documents/publications/co-creation-report-2015/</a>.

Moreton, Simon (2016) "Rethinking 'knowledge exchange': new approaches to collaborative work in the arts and humanities." *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 22 (1): 100-115.

Tiller, C. (2017) *Power Up*. London: ACE and Creative People and Places. Available from: <a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C</a> <a href="https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Power\_Up\_think\_piece\_C">https://www.creativepeopleplaces.org.uk/sites/default/files/Def

## Creativity in Management and Leadership

Brydon, A. (2019) *The Image is Something that is Earned. "Global Britain" and Cultural Leadership* (online). London: Clore Leadership. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/resources/image-something-earned-global-britain-and-cultural-leadership">https://www.cloreleadership.org/resources/image-something-earned-global-britain-and-cultural-leadership</a>.

DCMS (2015) Creative Industries: Focus on Employment (online). Available from: <a href="https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm">https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm</a> <a href="https://en.assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm">ent\_data/file/439714/Annex\_C\_-</a>

<u>\_Creative\_Industries\_Focus\_on\_Employment\_2015.pdf</u>.

Gorton, C. (2016) Building Digital Leadership and Resilience in the UK's Cultural Sector: What qualities of leadership are needed to ensure the resilience of cultural organisations in the digital age? London: Clore Leadership Programme. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/ceri\_gorton\_-digital\_leadership\_report.pdf">https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/ceri\_gorton\_-digital\_leadership\_report.pdf</a>.

Hay, M. (2018) Maestra: A Changing Model for Arts Leadership (online). London: Clore Leadership. Available from:

https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/marianna\_hay\_provocation\_paper\_final.pdf.

Hewison, R. and Holden, J. (2002) 'An Investment in the Rising Generation of Cultural Leaders is Necessary, and Timely'. Task Force, Final Report. London: The Clore Leadership Programme. Available from:

https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/task\_force\_final\_report\_full.pdf.

Mowles, C., Filosof, J., Andrews, M., Flinn, K., James, D., Mason, P. and Culkin, N. (2018) Transformational Change in the Higher Education Sector: An Enquiry into Leadership Practice. London: Advance HE. Available from: <a href="https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.creode.advancehe-document-manager/documents/lfhe/039\_AdvHE\_039\_AdvHE\_Transformational%20change%20in%20HE%20FINAL\_1586435871.pdf">https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.creode.advancehe-document-manager/documents/lfhe/039\_AdvHE\_039\_AdvHE\_Transformational%20change%20in%20HE%20FINAL\_1586435871.pdf</a>.

TBR (2014) Scoping the Leadership Development Needs of the Cultural Sector in England. London: TBR, Clore Leadership Programme, and ACE. Available from: <a href="https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf">https://www.cloreleadership.org/sites/cloreleadership.org/files/tbr\_leadership\_development\_scoping\_survey\_2014.pdf</a>.

